
Offering Prospectus 2021
InnoMedica Holding AG
Capital increase by a maximum of 1,338,230 registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each  
with subscription rights for existing shareholders until May 31, 2021
The original German version of this prospectus was approved by SIX Exchange Regulation AG, Zurich,  
in its function as review body pursuant article 52 FinSA on April 14, 2021



InnoMedica Offering Prospectus 2021   P 2

1. Summary

Preliminary note  This summary is an introduction to the offering prospectus. Investment decisions 

should be made based on the information in the entire prospectus. Liability for the 

summary exists only in the event that it is misleading, inaccurate or contradictory 

when read together with the other parts of the prospectus.

Information about the Issuer

Company InnoMedica Holding AG ("Company", "InnoMedica")

Headquarters Baarerstrasse 34, CH-6300 Zug

Legal form Stock corporation under Swiss law

Equity securities     The share capital of InnoMedica amounts to CHF 1,371,687.20 and is divided into 

13,716,872 fully paid-in registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each ("Exist-

ing Registered Shares"). The transferability of the Existing Registered Shares is not 

restricted according to the Articles of Association of the Company.

Security number 55.897.390

ISIN CH0558973902

Main information on the public offer

Capital increase with   The Board of Directors of the Company ("Board of Directors") decided on January 13, 

subscription right  2021, to increase the share capital of the Company by a maximum amount of CHF 

133,823 to a maximum of 15,055,102 shares with a nominal value of CHF 1,505,510.20, 

by issuing a maximum of 1,338,230 fully paid-in new registered shares ("New Regis-

tered Shares") in an authorized capital increase with a subscription offer to the existing 

shareholders of the Company. The offer consists of:

 i.  an authorized capital increase with a subscription offer to the existing sharehold-

ers of the Company, according to which the share capital of the Company will in-

crease by a maximum amount of CHF 133,823 by issuing a maximum of 1,338,230 

fully paid-in New Registered Shares against cash contribution ("Subscription Of-

fer") and

 ii.  a free placement of the subscription rights that were not and/or not validly exer-

cised in the Subscription Offer. After expiry of the Subscription Period, the Board 

of Directors shall decide on the allocation of these remaining subscription rights 

in the interest of the Company and at its own discretion ("Free Placement").

  Subscription rights that are not exercised or not validly exercised within the Subscrip-

tion Period in the context of the Subscription Offer and that are not allocated in the 

context of the Free Placement shall expire worthless, without compensation and irre-

vocably.
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Free options  Each New Registered Share includes 1.5 free options to purchase additional shares 

from an existing group of shareholders who are willing to sell. The options are specified 

 as follows:

 •  Exercise ratio and price: If exercised, one (1) option entitles the option holder to pur-

chase one (1) additional share at a price of CHF 8.48 per share.

 •  Option type: European (exercise at maturity).

 •  Exercise: May 31, 2021, by 24:00 (CEST). Options that are not exercised in time, as well 

as the rights associated with them, expire without compensation. Options can only be 

exercised in whole numbers.

 •  Tradability: The options are not tradable and can only be exercised in the context of 

the Subscription Offer or the Free Placement of the New Registered Shares.

 •  Option writers: The option writers are natural persons who have been shareholders 

of InnoMedica’s for more than 15 years. They have approached InnoMedica with their 

intention to sell independently and via the communication channels that are avail-

able to all shareholders. None of the option writers (including their related parties) is 

employed by or has any other business relationship with InnoMedica.

 •  Fiduciary custody: The 2,007,345 shares offered for sale by the option providers with 

a nominal value of CHF 200,734.50 were transferred to the fiduciary deposit of In-

noMedica and will be managed by InnoMedica in a fiduciary capacity until the comple-

tion of the settlement of the capital increase.

Subscription price  By resolution of the Board of Directors dated January 13, 2021, the subscription price 

and placement price   for the New Registered Shares was fixed at CHF 33.90 net per New Registered Share 

("Subscription Price"). The Subscription Price of the Subscription Offer corresponds to 

the placement price of the Free Placement ("Placement Price").

Type of contribution  By cash contribution for a maximum of 1,338,230 New Registered Shares, at the Sub-

scription Price and the Placement Price, respectively.

Subscription period  The subscription period for New Registered Shares in the context of the Subscription 

Offer and the Free Placement begins on April 15, 2021, and ends on May 31, 2021, at 

24:00 CEST ("Subscription Period").

Subscription ratio   One (1) subscription right shall be allocated to one (1) existing registered share. 10.25 

subscription rights entitle the holder to subscribe for one (1) New Registered Share at 

the Subscription Price. The exercise of the subscription rights is irrevocable. 

Subscription rights Existing shareholders may freely dispose of their subscription rights until the end of 

trading  the Subscription Period. They may exercise them partially or fully on their own account 

or sell them to third parties. For the Free Placement, as of June 01, 2021, InnoMedica also 

organizes a one-time voluntary trade of subscription rights, in which subscribing inves-

tors can submit a purchase offer for missing subscription rights and existing sharehold-

ers can offer for sale their unexercised and not otherwise sold subscription rights. For a 

description of this voluntary trading offer, see section 3.8 paragraph Rights Trading. For 

existing shareholders who have not exercised their subscription rights by May 31, 2021, 

have not otherwise sold them to third parties, and have not offered them for sale in the 

voluntary trading offer, the entitlement to a subscription right will expire automatically 

and irrevocably. These subscription rights will be offered for sale by InnoMedica as part 

of the voluntary trading offer as of June 01, 2021 at its own discretion.
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Deposit  The amounts for the subscription of New Registered Shares, the exercise of the at-

tached free options to acquire additional existing shares, and the acquisition of any 

missing subscription rights must be paid into the corresponding accounts of the Com-

pany by the end of the Subscription Period. 

Listing The registered shares of the Company are not listed on any stock exchange.

Book-entry delivery    After their payment, the New Registered Shares will be delivered into the share deposit 

account of the purchaser - as will the shares acquired by exercising the free options.

Issuing of share  The registered shares are, in principle, uncertificated securities (within the meaning of  

certificates   the Swiss Code of Obligations) and intermediated securities (within the meaning of the 

Intermediated Securities Act). The main register is kept by Nimbus AG, Ziegelbrücke. 

With the crediting of the securities in the securities account, the Federal Intermedi-

ated Securities Act applies to the custody and transfer. There is no right to delivery of 

physical share certificates. However, shareholders registered in the share register may 

at any time request confirmation from the share register of the number of registered 

shares in their name.

Dividend- The New Registered Shares are entitled to dividends for the entire fiscal year 2021.

authorization  They are equal in all respects to each other and to the existing shares.

Issue tax  The issue tax is borne by the Company.

Risks  The purchase of New Registered Shares or subscription rights or the exercise of sub-

scription rights in the context of the Subscription Offer and the Free Placement involve 

certain risks, which an investor must take into account before deciding to exercise sub-

scription rights or to purchase registered shares or subscription rights. For a descrip-

tion of certain risks, see section 2.1 Risks.

Sale restrictions  This prospectus is for the purpose of a public offering of the New Registered Shares to 

existing shareholders and other investors in Switzerland. Except for Switzerland, the 

Company and the Board of Directors have not made in any other jurisdiction any ar-

rangements necessary for a public offering or for the possession or distribution of this 

prospectus or other materials relating to the offering. 

Transferability, The registered shares are freely transferable and freely tradable. The Board of Directors 

tradability   may reject the application for entry in the share register on the basis of Art. 685b para. 

3 of the Swiss Code of Obligations, unless the acquirer explicitly declares that he/she 

has acquired the registered shares in his/her own name and for his/her own account.

Paying agent  UBS Switzerland AG, PWJ8-NT4, P.O. Box, 3001 Bern 

 Phone: +41 (0)31 336 47 70, , e-mail: norbert.mullis@ubs.com

Applicable law and Swiss law at the registered office of the Company

place of jurisdiction

 The original German version of this prospectus, dated April 12, 2021, was approved by SIX Exchange  

Regulation AG on April 14, 2021.
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Important notice

The Company and the Board of Directors accept re-

sponsibility for the contents of this prospectus and 

declare that, to their knowledge, the information con-

tained in this prospectus is accurate and that no mate-

rial circumstances have been omitted. When consider-

ing a purchase of New Registered Shares, subscription 

rights and/or the exercise of subscription rights, inves-

tors should rely solely on the information contained 

in this prospectus. An investment decision may only 

be made on the basis of the entire prospectus and, in 

particular, the risk factors.

This prospectus contains statements concerning fu-

ture financial and operating developments and results, 

as well as other forecasts, all of which are forward-

looking or contain subjective assessments. The same 

applies to statements containing words such as “may”, 

“will”, “should”, “expect”, “intend”, “plan”, “antici-

pate”, “believe”, “estimate”, “potential”, “scheduled”, 

“forecast”, “outlook”, “budget” or the negative of 

those terms and the like. All such statements are made 

on the basis of estimates, assumptions and presump-

tions that the Company and the Board of Directors be-

lieve to be reasonable at the date of this prospectus. 

However, such statements may nevertheless prove to 

be erroneous or inaccurate in retrospect, which may 

result in the Company's business performance or prof-

itability developing differently than might have been 

assumed on the basis of these statements. Neither the 

Company nor the Board of Directors is under any obli-

gation to update or revise any such statements or the 

estimates, assumptions, conjectures and forecasts on 

which they are based.

No person has been authorized to make any represen-

tation or statement other than those contained in this 

prospectus. If any such statements or representations 

are made, investors should not place undue reliance 

on them, and it should be assumed that they have not 

been approved by the Company or its governing bod-

ies. The delivery of this prospectus does not constitute 

a representation that the information contained in this 

prospectus is still accurate or complete at any time af-

ter the date of this prospectus or that there has been 

no change in the business of the Company since the 

date of this prospectus.

The distribution of this prospectus and the offer and 

sale of the New Registered Shares, the trading of sub-

scription rights and/or the exercise of subscription 

rights are restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. The 

Company, the Board of Directors, and the Management 

require any persons who come into possession of this 

prospectus to inform themselves about any such re-

strictions and to observe them. Failure to comply with 

such restrictions may constitute a violation of the se-

curities laws of such countries. The Company assumes 

no responsibility for any violation of these restrictions 

by any third party, whether or not such third party is a 

prospective purchaser.

This prospectus constitutes a public offer of the New 

Registered Shares and/or subscription rights to New 

Registered Shares exclusively in Switzerland and un-

der Swiss law; it does not constitute an offer or invita-

tion to purchase or to make an offer to purchase New 

Registered Shares and/or subscription rights to New 

Registered Shares in any jurisdiction in which such of-

fer or invitation would be unlawful. Except for Switzer-

land, the Company and the Board of Directors have not 

made any arrangements in any other jurisdiction nec-

essary for a public offering or the possession or distri-

bution of this prospectus or any other material relating 

to the offering.

 

This Prospectus, the Subscription Offer and the sub-

scription form can be obtained free of charge from 

the Company. The current Articles of Association, 

dated December 10, 2020, and the annual reports 

of the last three years are available for download on 

the Company's website at www.innomedica.com/ir 

or can be ordered via info@innomedica.com or by 

telephone (+41 (0)44 383 88 22).
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2.  Information about the issuer

2.1 Risks

Potential and existing investors should consider the 

following risk factors in addition to the other informa-

tion contained in this prospectus before purchasing 

any New Registered Shares offered. The occurrence of 

any of the following risks, or additional risks not yet 

known to the Company or not currently considered to 

be relevant by the Company, may, alone or in combina-

tion with other known or unknown risks, have a ma-

terial adverse effect on the Company's business and 

financial condition. In any such case, the value of the 

shares may decline, and investors may lose part or all 

of their investment.

The risks listed below are not to be understood as an 

exhaustive list of possible risks. Moreover, their order 

does not indicate their significance, probability of oc-

currence, or relevance.  

Medical and regulatory risks 

The required approval by the responsible authorities 

for the marketing of InnoMedica's products is depen-

dent on clinical proof of a beneficial efficacy/side-

effect profile. InnoMedica is therefore exposed to the 

risk of possibly insufficient proof of the efficacy of its 

drugs. Similarly, there is the possibility of side effects 

occurring during the course of clinical trials or at a 

later date. Both risks may lead to delays in approval, 

lower sales, and in the worst case to the discontinu-

ation of current research and development projects.  

Market risks

The marketability of InnoMedica's products depends 

on the potential availability of alternative products. 

Acceptance of InnoMedica's products as a preferred 

therapy and reimbursements for patients will depend 

on comparisons with potential alternative treatments. 

There is a risk for InnoMedica that competitors may 

be able to demonstrate a better efficacy/side-effect 

profile or price/performance ratio for their therapies. 

This may lead to difficulties in marketing InnoMedica's 

products and may result in financial losses.

Risks relating to intellectual property 

InnoMedica holds or has registered various patents 

and rights to brand names for its products. Potentially 

ineffective protection or infringements of the protec-

tion of proprietary medical knowledge and/or knowl-

edge for the manufacture of the products could lead 

to substantial financial losses for InnoMedica. In par-

ticular, an insufficient effect of the measures to pro-

tect intellectual property could lead to market entry 

by competitors with imitation products and impair the 

marketing of InnoMedica's products.

Operational risks

InnoMedica relies on functioning and error-free pro-

cesses in the production, quality assurance and quality 

control of its drugs to ensure that the clinical trials can 

be carried out. Upon market launch, these processes 

are a prerequisite for marketing the drugs. InnoMedica 

produces its drugs according to Good Manufacturing 

Practice (GMP) standards and thus ensures a pharma-

ceutical quality of the drugs. Nevertheless, the occur-

rence of process and quality deficiencies could lead 

to impairments and delays in the approval for market 

launch or to an impairment in the marketing after 

market launch and therefore possibly result in major 

financial losses.

Risks in information technology (IT)

The maintenance of InnoMedica's business depends 

on the operation of various IT systems, networks and 

software, which is why InnoMedica has taken extensive 

precautions to protect its IT. Disruptions in InnoMedi-

ca's IT could lead to disruptions in its business opera-

tions. InnoMedica is also dependent on data security 

in its IT systems to ensure effective protection of pro-

prietary knowledge. In particular, there is a risk that 

criminal acts could lead to the loss of data or impair-

ment of its use. This could potentially disrupt business 

operations and cause financial damage.  

Financing risks

Until a possible market launch of its products and the 

generation of sales, InnoMedica is dependent on ex-

ternal financing by investors. InnoMedica is dependent 

on the financing provided for its investment projects 

and its operating activities. The willingness of inves-

tors to subscribe for shares in InnoMedica depends 

not only on the success of its operating activities, but 

also on the general situation of the capital markets. 

Insufficient external financing possibilities can lead to 

impairments of the operating activities, in particular 

to delays in the market approval of InnoMedica's prod-

ucts. This may result in financial losses and possibly 

risks with regard to the continuation of business ac-

tivities.  

Dependence on key people

InnoMedica's economic success depends to a large 

extent on the knowledge and competence of its em-

ployees, particularly middle and senior management. 
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In principle, it cannot be ruled out that individual key 

personnel leave the company, resulting in a loss of 

knowledge for InnoMedica that could impair its op-

erating activities. As there is also a high demand for 

qualified managers, it cannot be guaranteed that In-

noMedica will always be in a position to find suitably 

qualified managers. 

Personnel risks

A breach or failure of InnoMedica's internal security or 

control systems, as well as the failure to detect fraud, 

theft, or corruption, may adversely affect InnoMedica. 

Likewise, illegal conduct or conduct in breach of con-

tract by an institution, employee, business partner, 

or other persons acting on behalf of InnoMedica may 

harm the Company. 

Trade risks

The registered shares of InnoMedica are not listed on 

any stock exchange and there is no guarantee that 

they will be listed on any stock exchange or other 

trading venue in the future. There is therefore no 

guarantee that a shareholder will find a buyer who 

is willing to purchase his/her registered shares or to 

pay the purchase price he/she desires. A possible sale 

value may also be subject to strong fluctuations and, 

in particular, downward movements due to low liquid-

ity, sales by other shareholders, negative news regard-

ing InnoMedica's business activities, legal disputes, 

changes in the economic environment, the entry into 

force or announcement of new regulatory framework 

conditions or other internal and external factors. 

Placement of shares

Capital increases are generally only carried out to the 

extent that New Registered Shares are subscribed by 

existing shareholders and/or other investors. Accord-

ingly, there is no certainty that the offered shares will 

be subscribed in the planned maximum amount and 

that the corresponding capital increase will take place 

up to the targeted amount. Therefore, it cannot be ex-

cluded that the Company will receive less equity than 

planned. 

Rescission of the capital increase

In principle, it cannot be ruled out that the capital in-

crease to be implemented with this offer will be chal-

lenged, which may in particular entail the possibility of 

a blocking of the register at the Commercial Register 

of the Canton of Zug. This may delay or permanently 

prevent the offer. 

Exchange rate risks

Foreign shareholders of the Company bear the risk 

of exchange rate fluctuations. If the Swiss franc falls 

against the foreign currency of the shareholder con-

cerned, this results in a currency loss.

2.2 General information on the issuer

Company name, legal form, registered office, loca-

tion of head office, and duration of the company 

InnoMedica Holding AG is a stock corporation under 

Swiss law (Art. 620 et seq. CO) with its registered of-

fice at Baarerstrasse 34, CH-6300 Zug. The head of-

fice location is Gesellschaftsstrasse 16, CH-3012 Bern. 

InnoMedica was founded on July 5, 2000, and entered 

in the Commercial Register of the Canton of Zug (CHE-

101.271.542). The duration of the company is unlimited.

Purpose

The purpose of the Company is the holding, purchase, 

sale, as well as the management of investments in 

(listed and unlisted) companies from the biotechnol-

ogy and medical sectors as well as related sectors or 

industries. In particular, the Company aims to establish 

and develop subsidiaries that pursue new entrepre-

neurial activities in these fields. In addition, the Com-

pany provides management services and consulting to 

companies in the biotechnology and medical sectors.

The Company is authorized to open branches in Swit-

zerland and abroad and to acquire interests in compa-

nies in the same and related industries in Switzerland 

and abroad. It is permitted to conduct all business that 

may arise in the course of its activities. It may acquire 

and sell real estate.

Date of the effective Articles of Association 

The current Articles of Association of InnoMedica 

Holding AG are dated December 10, 2020.

Financial year 

Pursuant to Art. 17 of the Articles of Association, the 

Company's financial year shall commence on January 

1 of each year and end on December 31.

Auditors 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Bahnhofplatz 10, P.O. 

Box, 3001 Bern, is the statutory auditor of InnoMedica 

(consolidated financial statements and annual finan-

cial statements according to the Swiss Code of Obliga-

tions). PricewaterhouseCoopers AG was re-elected as 

the statutory auditor at the Annual General Meeting of 

June 14, 2020, until the conclusion of the next Annual 

General Meeting of InnoMedica (see also 2.3 Section 

Auditors).

Operational group structure 

InnoMedica Holding AG is the parent company of the 

Group, with its 100% directly owned subsidiaries Inno-

Medica Schweiz AG (based in Bern BE) and YAMAZAKI-

DDS Co., Ltd. (registered office in Ibaraki, Japan). Inno-

Medica Schweiz AG bundles the operational business. 

The purpose of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. is to hold 

patents in the field of liposomal drug delivery systems.
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2.3 Information on the issuer's Board of  
Directors, Executive Board, auditors, and  
other governing bodies 

Board of Directors

The duties of the board of directors of a Swiss corpo-

ration are governed by the Swiss Code of Obligations, 

the articles of incorporation, and the organizational 

and business regulations. The Board of Directors is 

responsible for the strategic management of the com-

pany. Within the framework of strategic management, 

the Board of Directors determines the strategic, orga-

nizational, and financial planning principles, as well as 

the accounting standards to be followed by the Com-

pany.

Apart from its non-transferable and inalienable duties, 

the Board of Directors may delegate the management 

of the company in whole or in part to individual mem-

bers of the Board of Directors or to third parties. The 

Board of Directors has made use of this authority and 

has delegated the management of the Company to the 

Executive Board of InnoMedica. This delegation of the 

management is based on the company's organization-

al regulations of February 14, 2018.

Pursuant to Art. 12 of the Articles of Association, the 

Board of Directors consists of one or more members 

who must be shareholders and who are each elected 

by the General Meeting of Shareholders for a one-year 

term of office. Likewise, the Chairman of the Board of 

Directors is elected by the General Meeting of Share-

holders for a one-year term of office. The re-election 

of both the members of the Board of Directors and the 

Chairman of the Board of Directors is permitted. With 

the exception of the election of the Chairman by the 

General Meeting, the Board of Directors constitutes 

itself.

The Board of Directors passes its resolutions by a ma-

jority of its members present. Resolutions by circula-

tion require the approval of the majority of all mem-

bers.

As of the date of this prospectus, the Board of Direc-

tors consists of the following members:

Dr. phil. et phil. Peter Halbherr

Born 1950, Swiss, resident in Muntelier

•  InnoMedica (function and activity): Chairman of the 

Board of Directors, Delegate of the Board of Direc-

tors, General Manager.

•  Other functions within the Company: Member of the 

Board of Directors of InnoMedica Schweiz AG, Bern.

•  Business address: InnoMedica Holding AG, Gesell-

schaftsstrasse 16, 3012 Bern.

•  Most important activities outside the company: 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of BTS Business 

Technology & Services AG, Bern (software), member 

of the Board of Directors of R & C AG für die Suche 

von Führungskräften, Zurich (recruitment), as well 

as Chairman of the Board of Directors of IPAG Inter 

Personal AG, Bern (recruitment), until its acquisition 

by InnoMedica as of January 01, 2019.

Dr. med. Denis Bron

Born 1971, Swiss, resident in Bözberg

•  InnoMedica (function and activity): Vice Chairman of 

the Board of Directors, non-executive member of the 

Board of Directors.

•  Other functions within the Company: Member of the 

Board of Directors of InnoMedica Schweiz AG, Bern.

•  Business address: InnoMedica Holding AG, Gesell-

schaftsstrasse 16, 3012 Bern.

•  Main activities outside the company: Chief of Aviation 

Medicine of the Swiss Air Force, Dübendorf, Managing 

Partner of Alphastrat GmbH, Brugg (biotechnology).

Dr. rer. nat. Noboru Yamazaki

Born 1946, Japanese, resident in Ibaraki (JP)

•  InnoMedica (function and activity): Member of the 

Board of Directors, Chief Technology Officer.

•   Other functions within the Company: General Man-

ager of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. (Japan).

•  Business address: InnoMedica Holding AG, Gesell-

schaftsstrasse 16, 3012 Bern.

Dr. rer. oec. Urs Wälchli

Born 1977, Swiss, resident in Muri bei Bern

•  InnoMedica (function and activity): Member of the 

Board of Directors, non-executive member of the 

Board of Directors.

•  Business address: InnoMedica Holding AG, Gesell-

schaftsstrasse 16, 3012 Bern.

•  Main activities outside the company: Visiting Assis-

tant Professor at the Simon Business School of the 

University of Rochester (NY, USA); Managing Part-

ner of WIT Wälchli Innovation Technologies GmbH, 

Muri bei Bern (software and consulting).

Executive Board

Management delegation

The Board of Directors has delegated the manage-

ment of the company to the Executive Board as of 

February 14, 2018, in accordance with organizational 

regulations. The Executive Board is responsible for the 

operational management of the day-to-day business 

of the company. Subject to the organizational regu-

lations, certain transactions require a corresponding 

decision by the Board of Directors.

Organization and composition

The Executive Board is responsible for the manage-

ment of the company as a committee. Dr. Peter Halb-

herr heads the Executive Board as General Manager. 

In this function, he is responsible for coordinating the 
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management of the Company. The General Manager 

may delegate parts of the management to individual 

members of the Executive Board and to other em-

ployees and, within this framework, also regulate his 

deputization, without being released from his overall 

responsibility. He also prepares the corresponding job 

descriptions.

The Executive Board is composed as follows:

Dr. phil. et. phil. Peter Halbherr

(cf. 2.3 Section Board of Directors)

Dr. rer. nat. Stéfan Halbherr

Born 1985, Swiss, lives in Bern

•  InnoMedica (function and activity): Member of the 

Executive Board, Head of Research and Development

•  Other functions within the Company: Chairman of the 

Board of Directors and Country Manager Switzerland 

of InnoMedica Schweiz AG, Bern.

•  Business address: InnoMedica Holding AG, Gesell-

schaftsstrasse 16, 3012 Bern.

Dr. rer. oec. Jonas Zeller

Born 1982, Swiss, lives in Bern

•  InnoMedica (function and activity): Member of the Ex-

ecutive Board, Chief Financial Officer.

•  Other functions within the Company: Member of the 

Board of Directors and Chief Financial Officer of In-

noMedica Schweiz AG, Bern.

•  Business address: InnoMedica Holding AG, Gesell-

schaftsstrasse 16, 3012 Bern.

Proceedings and guilty verdicts

There are no guilty verdicts against the above-men-

tioned members of the Board of Directors and the 

Executive Board in relation to crimes or misdemean-

ors in the economic sector or ongoing proceedings or 

proceedings concluded with a sanction on the part of 

statutory authorities or regulatory authorities (includ-

ing designated professional associations).

Securities and option rights as of December 31, 2020

The aforementioned members of the Board of Direc-

tors and the Executive Management hold a total of 

4,091,745 registered shares with 29.8% of the voting 

rights of InnoMedica. In addition, Dr. Peter Halbherr 

and Dr. Urs Wälchli each holds the option, valid until 

March 31, 2021, to buy 2,214 registered shares at a 

price of CHF 27.10 upon conversion into shares of the 

loan extended to the Company for the interim financ-

ing of the Covid-19 vaccine project. Peter Halbherr, 

Denis Bron, the Yamazaki family, and Pascal Halbherr 

are members of a shareholder pool in which they con-

tractually undertake to communicate to each other 

any intention to sell shares and to grant other mem-

bers of the shareholder pool pre-emptive rights and, 

in the event of any sale, co-sale rights to the shares. 

The pool also operates a program under which the 

pool members offer InnoMedica shares for sale to 

employees at favorable conditions. The effective date 

for these disclosures is December 2020 and there 

have been no material changes to these disclosures 

since that date.

Auditors 

The legally authorized auditing body of InnoMedica 

is PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Bahnhofplatz 10, P.O. 

Box, 3001 Bern. The auditing supervisory authority 

responsible for the auditing body PricewaterhouseC-

oopers AG is the Swiss Federal Audit Supervisory 

Authority (Bern). The auditors audit the annual finan-

cial statements in accordance with the Swiss Code of 

Obligations. The auditors are elected annually by the 

Annual General Meeting. PricewaterhouseCoopers 

AG was re-elected as auditors at the Annual General 

Meeting on June 14, 2020 until the conclusion of the 

next Annual General Meeting of the Company. With 

regard to the rotation cycle of the lead auditor, the 

Board of Directors generally follows the provisions 

of the Swiss Code of Obligations. Mr. Hanspeter Ger-

ber, Swiss Certified Public Accountant, has served as 

lead auditor since the 2019 reporting year. Previously, 

Mr. Simon Bandi, Swiss Certified Accountant, was re-

sponsible for the auditing mandate. The auditors are 

independent of the other governing bodies and the 

shareholders pursuant to Art. 728 of the Swiss Code 

of Obligations.

2.4 Business activity and outlook

Main activity

InnoMedica is developing a new generation of drugs 

based on an innovative liposomal transport system 

that influences the distribution of active ingredients 

in the body and aims to improve the biodistribution 

of known active ingredients. In January 2013, Inno-

Medica initiated the Targeted Liposomal Doxorubicin 

(Talidox®) project. This first application in oncology 

is expected to enable significantly more effective 

treatment of cancer while reducing side effects for 

patients. A second project (Talineuren®) aims to use 

liposomes for the treatment of neurodegenerative 

diseases such as Parkinson's, ALS and Huntington's 

disease. In addition, the patented technology plat-

form is also to be used in other indications such as 

arteriosclerosis or in the treatment of bacterial tox-

ins without the use of antibiotics, as well as in diag-

nostics and infectiology (Covid-19). The applications 

mentioned are currently in the development phase. 

Talidox® is undergoing clinical trials and a marketing 

authorization application is in preparation. For Tali-

neuren®, the application for a first clinical study in 

humans is in preparation. InnoMedica's drugs are not 

yet commercially available.
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Net sales

InnoMedica has not generated any revenues in the last 

three financial years.

Location and land ownership

InnoMedica and its subsidiaries do not hold any real 

estate.

Locations of InnoMedica

• Registered office: Baarerstrasse 34, 6300 Zug

•  Location of the head office:  

Gesellschaftsstrasse 16, CH-3012 Bern

Subsidiary InnoMedica Schweiz AG: 

•  Registered office and location of the head office: 

Gesellschaftsstrasse 16, CH-3012 Bern

•  Branch offices: 

Route de l’Ancienne Papeterie, 1723 Marly; 

Zollikerstrasse 144, 8008 Zurich

Subsidiary YAMAZAKI-DDS Co, Ltd.: 

•  Location: Ushiku-shi, Ibaraki, Japan

 

Patents and licenses

InnoMedica holds a patent portfolio in the field of lipo-

somal technologies:

•  Delivery systems for pharmaceutical agents, 2002, 

Dr. Denis Bron.

•  Sugar-modified liposomes and products comprising 

liposomes, 2007, Dr. Noboru Yamazaki und Dr. Shuji 

Kojima.

In addition, InnoMedica holds or has applied for spe-

cific product patents:

•  Talidox®: Talidox - Liposomal Doxorubicin Formula-

tion, 2019, Pascal Halbherr et. al.

•  Talineuren®: Talineuren - Liposomes Comprising 

Sphingomyelin, 2017, Dr. Stefan Halbherr.

•  TaliCoVax19®: TaliCoVax - Immunogenic composi-

tion comprising an antigenic moiety and a liposomal 

formulation, method of producing the composition 

for use as a medicament, in particular for use as a 

vaccine, 2020, Dr. Stefan Halbherr und Dr. Camille 

Peitsch.

Research and development

InnoMedica is developing applications of the liposo-

mal delivery system for medical indications in oncol-

ogy (Talidox® with the active substance doxorubicin), 

neurology (Talineuren® with the active substance GM1 

against damage to the nervous system in neurodegen-

erative diseases such as Parkinson's, ALS, and Hun-

tington's), and infectious diseases (TaliCoVax19® for 

vaccination against Covid-19 diseases). Further treat-

ment options, for example in bacteriology or diagnos-

tics, are being explored. All research and development 

projects mentioned are ongoing as of the date of this 

prospectus. 

Judicial, arbitration and administrative  

proceedings  

There are no pending or threatened legal, arbitration, 

or administrative proceedings against InnoMedica, its 

governing bodies, or any of its subsidiaries.

Headcount

As of the reporting dates of the historical financial 

statements included in the prospectus, InnoMedica 

and its subsidiaries had the following total headcount:

• December 31 2018: 22 employees

• December 31 2019: 29 employees

• December 31, 2020: 39 employees

Extraordinary events

The data in section 2.4 were affected by the Covid-19 

pandemic. The heavy burden on the healthcare sector 

has generally hampered clinical research in hospitals, 

which has led to a slowdown in the progress of studies 

with Talidox®. At the same time, the Covid-19 pandemic 

has prompted InnoMedica to establish a new foothold 

in infectious diseases with TaliCoVax19®. The Swiss As-

sociation for Clinical Cancer Research (SAKK) is Inno-

Medica's study partner in the clinical trial of Talidox®. 

Financial difficulties of SAKK have led to a temporary 

recruitment stop for the clinical trial at the end of 

2020. SAKK has meanwhile averted insolvency. Inno-

Medica was able to reach an agreement with SAKK on 

the continuation and early completion of the existing 

study.

Business Outlook

InnoMedica intends to submit a marketing authoriza-

tion application for Talidox® to Swissmedic, the Swiss 

surveillance authority for medicines and medical de-

vices, by the end of June 2021. Following further suc-

cessful clinical research, regulatory submissions for 

Talidox® to the European Medicines Agency (EMA) 

and other international regulatory authorities are in-

tended.

Regulatory applications for Talineuren® are also to be 

submitted to Swiss and international authorities once 

the necessary clinical research has been completed.

A marketing authorization gives InnoMedica the op-

portunity to sell and distribute the developed drugs. 

At the present time, there is still uncertainty about 

the exact timing of the submission of the applications 

for approval, the duration of the review, and the prob-

ability and timing of any approvals. In the event of ap-

proval, there is also uncertainty regarding the pricing 

of the drugs and the general market environment.
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2.5 Investments  

Past investments

(Pre-/Clinical Talidox and Talineuren)

In 2014, InnoMedica invested CHF 269,782 in the con-

struction and equipment of a first clean room at its 

production site in Marly (Fribourg). As of January 01, 

2019, InnoMedica acquired IPAG Inter Personal AG, 

renamed the company InnoMedica Schweiz AG, and 

transferred the operational assets to the company. As 

a result of the acquisition, InnoMedica has entrusted 

InnoMedica Schweiz AG with the operational research 

and development activities. Accordingly, the invest-

ments in 2019 and 2020 presented below were carried 

out by InnoMedica Schweiz AG on behalf of InnoMedi-

ca. In 2019, InnoMedica invested a total of CHF 616,510 

in the construction of a second, larger clean room and 

in storage facilities. In financial years 2019 and 2020, 

CHF 1,093,988 was invested in equipment for the clean 

rooms and laboratories for process engineering, qual-

ity control, and research and development. In addition, 

InnoMedica has continuously invested in equipment 

and materials for production, process engineering, 

quality control, and administration. These investments 

were directly expensed in the accounts unless they 

had a major financial impact or related to internal 

personnel expenses. According to the overview below, 

InnoMedica has invested in various preclinical studies 

and in the first clinical study of Talidox® in oncology. 

These investments in preclinical and clinical studies 

were directly expensed in the accounts.

Current investments

InnoMedica invests continuously in clinical research 

and in the production facility in Marly, Fribourg. As the 

company grows, investments are also made in mov-

able assets (e.g., office equipment, vehicles) on an 

ongoing basis. In oncology, the clinical trial in collabo-

ration with SAKK is largely completed and financially 

recorded. In all areas (oncology, neurology, and infec-

tious diseases), there are various ongoing collabora-

tions for preclinical studies. 

Planned investments 

InnoMedica plans to invest in all areas of activity, with 

expenditures budgeted beyond current investments, 

but no financial commitments made. In Oncology, In-

noMedica is currently budgeting approximately CHF 

1.5 million for a clinical trial to follow up on the exist-

ing clinical trial and approximately CHF 0.1 million for 

complementary preclinical studies. In neurology, In-

noMedica is planning preclinical studies for ALS and 

Parkinson's disease with a budget of approximately 

CHF 0.2 million and clinical studies with a budget of 

approximately CHF 1.5 million. Further investments are 

planned in virology (use of Talineuren® for Covid-19 

diseases), with release dependent on funding from the 

capital increase or from third parties.

2.6 Capital and voting rights 

Capital structure 

At the end of the financial year 2020, InnoMedica's 

share capital amounts to CHF 1,371,687.20, divided 

into 13,716,872 registered shares with a nominal value 

of CHF 0.10 each. All shares are fully paid-in, freely 

transferable, and equal in all respects. The shares are 

fully entitled to dividends. The authorized capital of 

the Company at the end of the financial year 2020 

amounts to CHF 202,888.80, consisting of 2,028,888 

registered shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.10. 

The shares are currently not admitted to trading on 

any trading venue.

Voting rights

All shares of InnoMedica Holding AG carry full voting 

rights. Pursuant to Article 9 of the Company's Articles 

of Association, each share entitles the holder to one 

vote at the Annual General Meeting. The Articles of 

Association do not provide for any restrictions on vot-

ing rights. Each shareholder may also be represented 

at the shareholders' meeting by a third party, who 

does not need to be a shareholder, by means of a writ-

ten power of attorney. Legal representatives do not 

require a written power of attorney; personal legitima-

tion is sufficient.

Opportunities to change the existing capital

The Extraordinary General Meeting of December 10, 

2020, has approved authorized capital of up to CHF 

202,888.80, divided into 2,028,888 registered shares 

with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each.

Pursuant to Article 4a of the Company's Articles of As-

sociation, the Board of Directors is authorized at any 

time until December 9, 2022, to increase the share 

capital by a maximum amount of CHF 202,888.80 by 

Year 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Preclinical 56,445 60,795 111,967 311,845 359,063 451,804 295,044

Clinic  -  -  - 116,209 139,748 168,307 655,449

Past Investments (CHF)
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issuing a maximum of 2,028,888 registered shares 

with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each, to be fully paid-

in. Increases by way of firm underwriting as well as in-

creases in partial amounts are permitted. The respec-

tive issue amount, the time of dividend entitlement, 

and the type of contribution shall be determined by 

the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is au-

thorized to exclude shareholders' subscription rights 

and to allocate them to third parties if such New Reg-

istered Shares are to be used to finance the acqui-

sition of companies pursuing the same or a similar 

purpose, or investments in such companies, or for 

the acquisition of such companies by means of an 

exchange of shares. Shares, for which subscription 

rights are granted but not exercised, are to be sold at 

market conditions, but at least at the net asset value 

per share.

The authorized capital expires on December 09, 2022. 

By resolution of the Board of Directors of January 

13, 2021, the share capital of the Company is to be in-

creased by a maximum amount of CHF 133,823 to a 

maximum of CHF 1,505,510.20 through the issuance 

of a maximum of 1,338,230 registered shares with 

a nominal value of CHF 0.10 from the previous CHF 

1,371,687.20 within the scope of the present capital in-

crease. The subscription rights of existing sharehold-

ers will be respected.

Share and profit participation certificates

InnoMedica has no share and profit participation cer-

tificates that do not represent capital.

Outstanding conversion and option rights, bonds, 

loans and contingent liabilities 

As of the date of this prospectus, InnoMedica has 

an operating loan outstanding for the TaliCoVax19®  

(Covid-19 vaccine) project in the amount of CHF 

240,000. The loan was granted by shareholders and 

matures on March 31, 2021. Until repayment, the loan 

can be converted into InnoMedica shares at a conver-

sion price of CHF 27.10 per share. The shares underly-

ing the conversion right originate from the Company's 

treasury shares and are reserved during the entire 

loan period.

Capitalization and debt

At the end of the financial year 2020, InnoMedica's eq-

uity amounts to CHF 16,126,010. Liabilities at the end 

of the financial year 2020 amount to CHF 2,024,232, 

consisting of unsecured operating liabilities and an 

unsecured loan of CHF 240,000 to shareholders. In-

noMedica has no contingent liabilities.

As of the date of this prospectus, InnoMedica has no 

provisions in its Articles of Association that deviate 

from the statutory provisions regarding changes in 

capital and the rights associated with the individual 

classes of securities.

Agenda

The shareholders of InnoMedica Holding AG are enti-

tled to the rights to add items to the agenda pursuant 

to Art. 699 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. 

Treasury shares 

At the end of the financial year 2020, 16,217 registered 

shares of the company are held in treasury.

Significant shareholders

As of the end of the financial year 2020, the following 

significant shareholders of the Company hold more 

than 3 percent of the voting rights:

•  Dr. Peter Halbherr: 2,742,325 registered shares  

(20.0 percent of 13,716,872 registered shares)

•  Dr. Herbert Früh: 1,050,467 registered shares  

(7.7 percent)

•  Dr. Noboru Yamazaki: 523,189 registered shares  

(3.8 percent)

•  Pascal Halbherr: 487,993 registered shares  

(3.6 percent)

•  Dr. med. Denis Bron: 425,091 registered shares  

(3.1 percent).

Cross holding

There is no cross shareholding.

Public purchase offers

As a non-listed company, InnoMedica's Articles of As-

sociation do not provide for any relief or exemption 

from the obligation to make a public tender offer pur-

suant to Article 135 FinfraG ("opting out" and "opting 

up" clauses).

Dividend entitlement

The existing shares are fully entitled to dividends. The 

New Registered Shares are entitled to dividends from 

financial year 2021. InnoMedica has not paid any divi-

dends in the past.

Employee participation

InnoMedica does not operate any option or share par-

ticipation programs for employees, members of the 

Board of Directors, and members of the Executive 

Board.

2.7 Information policy 

InnoMedica publishes its financial reporting once a year 

in the form of annual financial statements. These are 

prepared in accordance with the accounting regula-

tions of the Swiss Code of Obligations. Comprehensive 

information about the company can be found on the 
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website www.innomedica.com. Irregular newsletters for 

investors and interested parties are published by e-mail 

and on the Company's website (www.innomedica.com). 

The Company can be contacted electronically at  

info@innomedica.com.

Contact person and details for investors and  

media:

Mrs. Andrea Zurkirchen

InnoMedica Holding AG

Gesellschaftsstrasse 16

CH-3012 Bern

+41 (0)44 383 88 22

info@innomedica.com

2.8 Financial statements
 
InnoMedica prepares its annual financial statements in 

accordance with the Swiss Code of Obligations at the 

end of each financial year as of December 31. For the 

financial years 2019 and 2020, consolidated financial 

statements have also been prepared with consolida-

tion of the wholly owned subsidiaries InnoMedica Sch-

weiz AG and YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. (domiciled in 

Ibaraki, Japan).

The audited annual financial statements in accordance 

with the Swiss Code of Obligations for the financial 

years 2018, 2019 and 2020 and the audited consoli-

dated financial statements in accordance with the 

Swiss Code of Obligations for the financial years 2019 

and 2020 are set out below for the purposes of this of-

fering (public capital increase) and extracts therefrom 

are also published in the appendix to this offering pro-

spectus:

•  Consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with the Swiss Code of Obligations as of December 

31, 2020 (see P 22-27)

•  Financial statements in accordance with the Swiss 

Code of Obligations as of December 31, 2020 (see  

P 28-32)

•  Consolidated financial statements in accordance 

with the Swiss Code of Obligations as of December 

31, 2019 (see P 33-38)

•  Financial statements in accordance with the Swiss 

Code of Obligations as of December 31, 2019 (see  

P 39-43)

•  Financial statements in accordance with the Swiss 

Code of Obligations as of December 31, 2018 (see  

P 44-50).

The annual reports for 2018, 2019, and 2020 can be 

obtained free of charge from the Company (phone:  

+41 (0)44 383 88 22, e-mail: info@innomedica.com) or 

can be viewed at www.innomedica.com/ir.

Significant changes since the last annual or interim 

financial statements 

There have been no significant changes in the issuer's 

net assets, results of operations and financial position 

since the end of the last financial year.

2.9 Dividend and earnings 

InnoMedica has not paid dividends in the past and 

plans to pay dividends only in the event of sustained 

positive net income, in accordance with the legal 

framework under the Swiss Code of Obligations.

The 1,338,230 New Registered Shares offered with this 

prospectus from the capital increase are entitled to 

dividends for the entire financial year 2021 as of the 

date of their entry in the Commercial Register of the 

Canton of Zug.
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3.  Information on the securities 
(securities description)

3.1 Issue price and issue volume 

The issue price was set by the Board of Directors on 

January 13, 2021, at CHF 33.90 per New Registered 

Share with a nominal value of CHF 0.10 each. A maxi-

mum of 1,338,230 New Registered Shares can be is-

sued at this price. The actual issue volume results 

from the effectively issued number of New Registered 

Shares, multiplied by the issue price. It depends on 

the willingness of investors to subscribe for New Reg-

istered Shares of the Company. The maximum issue 

volume amounts to CHF 45,365,997.00.

3.2 Risks 

The shares offered represent an investment in Inno-

Medica's business model and are therefore exposed to 

the risks described in section 2.1. The acquisition and 

the information provided do not give rise to any claims 

on the part of shareholders with regard to the subse-

quent performance of the shares. 

3.3 Legal basis 

The offer follows the resolution of the General Meet-

ing of Shareholders of December 10, 2020, to create 

authorized capital, and the resolution of the Board of 

Directors of January 13, 2021, on the capital increase 

pursuant to this prospectus.  

3.4 Right 

The issued share capital of InnoMedica as of the date 

of this prospectus amounts to CHF 1,371,687.20 and is 

divided into 13,716,872 registered shares with a nomi-

nal value of CHF 0.10 each. The registered shares are 

fully paid-in and validly issued.

The registered shares have equal rights among them-

selves and in relation to all other registered shares.

According to Article 9 of the Articles of Association, 

each share carries one vote at the General Meeting. 

Members’ rights at the General Meeting of Sharehold-

ers may only be exercised by persons identified by en-

try in the share register. All shares are equally entitled 

to dividends. The maximum of 1,338,230 New Regis-

tered Shares offered with this prospectus from the 

capital increase are entitled to dividends for the entire 

financial year 2021 as of the date of their entry in the 

Commercial Register of the Canton of Zug. According to 

its Articles of Association, the duration of the Company 

is unlimited. However, the Company may be dissolved 

by a publicly certified resolution of the General Meeting. 

The assets of the dissolved company will be distributed 

to the shareholders after repayment of its debts in pro-

portion to the paid-in nominal value of its shares.

In addition, registered shares carry the rights granted 

to them under the Company's Articles of Association 

and the Swiss Code of Obligations.

3.5 Restrictions 

There are no restrictions on transferability or tradabil-

ity (transfer restrictions). According to Article 4 of the 

Articles of Association, all shares of the Company are 

freely transferable and tradable. 

3.6 Publication 

The Company's publication medium for public notices 

to shareholders is the "Schweizerisches Handelsamts-

blatt" (www.shab.ch).   

3.7 Security number, ISIN  
and trading currency 

Security number:  55.897.390

SIX SIS ISIN: CH0558973902

Trading currency: CHF

3.8 Information on the offer 

Type of issue 

The Board of Directors of the Company decided on 

January 13, 2021, to increase the share capital of the 

Company by a maximum amount of CHF 133,823 to a 

maximum of 15,055,102 shares with a nominal value of 

CHF 1,505,510.20, by issuing a maximum of 1,338,230 

fully paid-in new registered shares in an authorized 

capital increase with a subscription offer to the exist-

ing shareholders of the Company. The offer consists of:
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i.   an authorized capital increase with a subscription 

offer to the existing shareholders of the Company, 

according to which the share capital of the Company 

will increase by a maximum amount of CHF 133,823 

by issuing a maximum of 1,338,230 fully paid-in New 

Registered Shares against cash contribution ("Sub-

scription Offer") and

ii.  a free placement of the subscription rights that 

were not and/or not validly exercised in the Sub-

scription Offer. After expiry of the Subscription Pe-

riod, the Board of Directors shall decide on the allo-

cation of these remaining subscription rights in the 

interest of the Company and at its own discretion 

("Free Placement").

Subscription rights that are not exercised or not val-

idly exercised within the Subscription Period under 

the Subscription Offer and are not allocated under the 

Free Placement shall expire worthless, without com-

pensation and irrevocably.

Free options

Each New Registered Share includes 1.5 free options 

to purchase additional shares from an existing group 

of shareholders who are willing to sell. The options are 

specified as follows:

•  Exercise ratio and price: If exercised, one (1) option 

entitles the option holder to purchase one (1) addi-

tional share at a price of CHF 8.48 per share.

•  Option type: European (exercise at maturity)

•  Exercise: May 31, 2021, by 24:00 (CEST). Options that 

are not exercised in time, as well as the rights asso-

ciated with them, expire without compensation. Op-

tions can only be exercised in whole numbers.

•  Tradability: The options are not tradable and can only 

be exercised in the context of the Subscription Offer 

or the Free Placement of the New Registered Shares.

•  Option writers: The option writers are natural per-

sons who have been shareholders of InnoMedica’s 

for more than 15 years. They have approached Inno-

Medica with their intention to sell independently and 

via the communication channels that are available to 

all shareholders. None of the option writers (includ-

ing their related parties) is employed by or has any 

other business relationship with InnoMedica.

•  Fiduciary custody: The 2,007,345 shares offered for 

sale by the option providers, with a nominal value of 

CHF 200,734.50, were transferred to the fiduciary 

deposit of InnoMedica and will be managed by Inno-

Medica in a fiduciary capacity until the completion of 

the settlement of the capital increase.

Number, class and nominal value of securities

The offer comprises a maximum of 1,338,230 New Reg-

istered Shares of the Company with a nominal value of 

CHF 0.10 per New Registered Share, to be fully paid in. 

Existing shareholders may subscribe for offered New 

Registered Shares from the capital increase in order 

to materially preserve their fractional ownership in 

the company. The New Registered Shares have equal 

rights among themselves and in relation to all other 

registered shares.

Design of the securities

The registered shares are fully paid-in and validly is-

sued. Based on the resolution of the Extraordinary 

General Meeting of Shareholders of December 10, 

2020, the registered shares of the Company are in 

principle structured as uncertificated securities (with-

in the meaning of the Swiss Code of Obligations) and 

intermediated securities (within the meaning of the In-

termediated Securities Act). The main register is kept 

at Nimbus AG, Ziegelbrücke. With the crediting of the 

securities in the securities account, the Federal Inter-

mediated Securities Act applies to the custody and 

transfer. There is no right to delivery of physical share 

certificates. However, shareholders entered in the 

share register may at any time request confirmation 

from the share register of the number of registered 

shares entered in their name.

Subscription and Placement Price

The Subscription and Placement Price is CHF 33.90 

per New Registered Share.

Subscription Period

The period for exercising subscription rights under the 

Subscription Offer and for subscribing for New Regis-

tered Shares under the Free Placement begins on April 

15, 2021, and ends on May 31, 2021, at 24:00 (CEST).

Subscription ratio

One (1) subscription right shall be allocated to one (1) 

existing registered share. 10.25 Subscription rights en-

title the holder to subscribe for one (1) New Registered 

Share at the Subscription Price. The exercise of the 

subscription rights is irrevocable.

Allocation of subscription rights

Existing shareholders will be allocated their subscrip-

tion rights if they enclose with the subscription form 

a deposit certificate from their bank for the existing 

shares with a blocking date of May 31, 2021.

Rights trading

The existing shareholders may freely dispose of their 

subscription rights until the end of the Subscription 

Period, exercise them partially or fully on their own 

account, or sell them to third parties. In addition, In-

noMedica is organizing a one-time voluntary trading 

offer as of June 01, 2021.

Sale to third parties during the public offering

Existing shareholders may sell their unexercised sub-

scription rights to third parties at any time until the 

end of the Subscription Period, either for a consider-



P  17

ation or free of charge. The purchaser of these sub-

scription rights shall notify InnoMedica in writing by 

May 31, 2021, by means of an assignment agreement 

of the number of subscription rights acquired and 

the name and address of the seller of the subscrip-

tion rights. The assignment agreement shall name the 

seller, the buyer and the number of subscription rights 

assigned. A template for the assignment agreement is 

available for download at www.innomedica.com/ir.

The assignment agreement shall become valid if it is 

received by InnoMedica by May 31, 2021, is signed by 

the acquirer and the seller of the subscription rights, 

and is accompanied by a deposit certificate issued by 

the custodian bank of the seller of the subscription 

rights with a blocking date of May 31, 2021. InnoMedica 

shall not assume any liability for any damages arising 

in connection with the private trading of subscription 

rights with third parties. In particular, it is the respon-

sibility of the purchaser of the subscription rights to 

ensure that the seller of the subscription rights is ac-

tually a shareholder of InnoMedica and can freely dis-

pose of the subscription rights to be purchased.

Subscription rights can be acquired exclusively for the 

purpose of subscribing for shares in the context of the 

Subscription Offer.

One-time trading offer for subscription rights 

organized by InnoMedica

1. Purchase of subscription rights

By means of a subscription form, subscribing investors 

may submit a binding written offer to purchase miss-

ing subscription rights until May 31, 2021, and pay the 

associated purchase amount into InnoMedica's trans-

action account (IBAN: CH21 0023 5235 5668 5202 

F). The purchase offers for subscription rights can be 

increased, but not reduced, at any time until May 31, 

2021, by means of a new subscription form and addi-

tional payment of the price difference. The minimum 

offer price is CHF 0.10 (ten cents) per subscription 

right.

2. Sale of subscription rights

Existing shareholders may indicate in writing by means 

of a subscription form until May 31, 2021, whether they 

wish to offer for sale their subscription rights that 

have not been exercised or otherwise sold to third par-

ties for a one-time trading as of June 01, 2021. They 

can also indicate whether, in the event of a success-

ful sale of the subscription rights, the proceeds should 

flow back to them or whether they should be booked 

in favor of InnoMedica.

 

For existing shareholders who have not exercised their 

subscription rights by May 31, 2021, have not otherwise 

sold them to third parties, and have not offered them 

for sale for the one-time trading, the entitlement to 

a subscription right shall expire automatically and ir-

revocably. These subscription rights will be offered for 

sale by InnoMedica for its own account as part of the 

one-time trading as of June 01, 2021 ("available sub-

scription rights").

3. Settlement of trading and allocation of subscription 

rights

After the end of the Subscription Period, as of June 01, 

2021, the settlement of the trade and the allocation of 

the subscription rights will take place as follows:

i.    The Board of Directors shall determine the total 

number of subscription rights offered for sale. This 

total number results from the number of subscrip-

tion rights offered for sale by existing sharehold-

ers plus the available subscription rights offered for 

sale by InnoMedica on its own account.

ii.   The Board of Directors shall rank the purchase of-

fers received for subscription rights in descending 

order of paid offer price.

iii.  The unit price for the voluntary rights trading as of 

June 01, 2021, corresponds to the maximum price 

at which the total number of subscription rights of-

fered for sale can be sold to the prospective buy-

ers of subscription rights. If the capital increase 

is undersubscribed, the unit price is zero. In this 

case, subscribing investors are free to convert the 

amounts paid in to acquire subscription rights into 

additional share subscriptions.

iv.  The rights purchase offers will be distributed in de-

scending order according to the amount of the paid 

purchase offer price. In the event of equal purchase 

offer prices, the offer received earlier by InnoMedi-

ca shall be given priority.

v.   Shareholders included in the allocation will be reim-

bursed the difference between the paid-in purchase 

offer price and the unit price. Shareholders not in-

cluded in the allocation will receive a full refund in 

the amount of their paid-in share purchase prices 

and rights purchase offer prices.

vi.  All offers for sale submitted by existing sharehold-

ers or by InnoMedica will be settled at the unit price.

Refunds for subscription rights or proceeds from the 

sale of subscription rights below CHF 100 will not be 

processed and will go to the benefit of InnoMedica.

Employees and related parties

The Board of Directors, the management, the employ-

ees of InnoMedica as well as persons close to them or 

to the company in any other way may have an informa-

tion advantage as insiders. They are obliged to execute 

any purchases or sales of subscription rights via the 

one-time trading offer organized by InnoMedica.

Delivery and payment

The New Registered Shares from the capital increase 

will be delivered in book-entry form in accordance 
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with the Swiss Federal Act on Book-Entry Securities. 

The book-entry delivery of the New Registered Shares 

from the capital increase will be made against pay-

ment of the Subscription or Placement Price for each 

New Registered Share, i.e., against payment of CHF 

33.90 net per registered share, no later than May 31, 

2021, to the capital increase account of the Company 

(IBAN: CH54 0027 3273 1789 39D7 U).

The book-entry delivery of the shares acquired 

through the exercise of the free options will be made 

against payment of CHF 8.48 net per registered share, 

no later than May 31, 2021, to the Company's transac-

tion account (IBAN: CH21 0023 5235 5668 5202 F).

Paying agent

UBS Switzerland AG, PWJ8-NT4, P.O. Box, 3001 Bern 

Phone: +41 (0)31 336 47 70

E-mail: norbert.mullis@ubs.com

Listing

The shares of the Company are not listed on any stock 

exchange.

Share capital and capital increase

Upon completion of the Offer, the share capital will be 

increased by a maximum amount of CHF 133,823 to 

a maximum of CHF 1,505,510.20, divided into a maxi-

mum of 15,055,102 registered shares with a nominal 

value of CHF 0.10 each.

Net proceeds

The maximum net proceeds of the issue according to 

the information under 3.1 are expected to amount to 

CHF 44,908,645, taking into account the issue tax.

The proceeds of the issue will primarily be used to fi-

nance the operating activities, in particular personnel 

costs and costs of research, development and produc-

tion of InnoMedica's products.

Issue tax

The issue tax on the Subscription or Placement Price 

is borne by the Company.

Applicable law and place of jurisdiction

Swiss law is applicable. The place of jurisdiction is the 

registered office of the Company.

Sale restrictions

The distribution of this prospectus and the offer and 

sale of the New Registered Shares, the trading of sub-

scription rights, and/or the exercise of the subscription 

rights are restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. The 

Company, the Board of Directors, and the Management 

require any Ppersons into whose come into possession 

of this prospectus comes are required by the Company, 

the Board of Directors and the Management to inform 

themselves about any such restrictions and to observe 

them any such restrictions. Failure to comply with such 

restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities 

laws of such countries. The Company assumes no re-

sponsibility for any violation of these restrictions by 

any third party, whether or not such third party is a 

prospective purchaser.

This prospectus constitutes a public offer of the New 

Registered Shares and/or subscription rights to New 

Registered Shares exclusively in Switzerland and un-

der Swiss law; it does not constitute an offer or invita-

tion to purchase or to make an offer to purchase New 

Registered Shares and/or subscription rights to New 

Registered Shares in any jurisdiction in which such 

offer or invitation would be unlawful. Except for Swit-

zerland, the Company and the Board of Directors have 

not made in any other jurisdiction any arrangements 

necessary for a public offering or the possession or 

distribution of this prospectus or any other material 

relating to the Offering.
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4.  Responsibility for the  
prospectus

The following representatives of the Company accept 

responsibility for the contents of this prospectus in its 

original German version and declare that, to the best 

of their knowledge, the information contained in this 

prospectus, including the financial information in the 

financial reporting section, is correct and that no ma-

terial circumstances have been omitted.

Zug, April 21, 2021

InnoMedica Holding AG

Prof. Dr. Urs Wälchli 

Member of the Board 

of Directors

Dr. Peter Halbherr 

Chairman and Delegate  

of the Board of Directors

Dr. Denis Bron 

Vice President of the 

Board of Directors
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Audited consolidated financial statements (Swiss Code of Obligations) as of December 31, 2020

Consolidated financial statements 
InnoMedica Holding AG

Year 2019 2020

Assets CHF CHF

Cash and cash equivalents 13,793,694 16ʼ002ʼ456

Securities 131,748 144ʼ325

Other current receivables 130,930 194ʼ876

Prepaid expenses and accrued income – 9ʼ463

Total current assets 14,056,373 16ʼ351ʼ120

Financial assets 72,821 –

Property, plant and equipment 1,856,170 2ʼ269ʼ662

Intangible assets 200,000 200ʼ000

Total fixed assets 2,128,991 2ʼ469ʼ662

Total assets as of 31.12. 16,185,364 18,820,782

Liabilities CHF CHF

Accounts payable 62,290 178ʼ278

Liabilities to shareholders – 240,000

Other current liabilities 75,381 127ʼ934

Accrued expenses and deferred income 349,389 719ʼ893

Total current liabilities 487,061 1ʼ266ʼ105

Total long-term liabilities  –  –

Share capital  1,334,576 1ʼ371ʼ687

Total legal reserves 33,698,877 43ʼ718ʼ733

Reserves from capital contributions

Other legal reserves

31,781,856
1,917,021

41ʼ700ʼ697 
2ʼ018ʼ035

Loss carried forward – 13,498,636 – 19ʼ331ʼ133

Annual loss – 5,832,456 – 8ʼ200,556

Treasury shares – 4,058 – 4ʼ054

Total shareholders' equity 15,698,304 17ʼ554ʼ676

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity as of 31.12. 16,185,364 18ʼ820ʼ782

Balance sheet



P  23

P 11

Year 2019 2020

Net sales CHF CHF

Total net sales – –

Costs of materials and services

Development expenses – 1,141,210 – 2,554,390

Total costs of materials and services – 1,141,210 – 2,554,390

Personnel expenses 

Wages and salaries – 2,847,703 – 3,354,871

Social security expense – 411,362 – 465,964

Other personnel expenses – 231,377 – 331,127

Total personnel expenses – 3,490,442 – 4,151,962

Other operating expenses

Infrastructure expenses – 318,544 – 516,363

Vehicle and transport costs – 6,907 – 20,720

Property insurance and fees – 4,541 – 12,312

Administrative expenses – 211,139 – 239,843

Capital increase expense – 279,413 – 211,513

IT expenses – 47,520 – 113,953

Advertising expenses – 10,272 – 11,431

Total other operating expenses – 878,336 – 1,126,135

EBITDA – 5,509,989 – 7,832,487

Depreciation – 292,830 – 452,741

EBIT – 5,802,819 – 8,285,228

Financial expenses – 22,982 – 17,836

Financial income 929 841

Value adjustment on securities 19,602 16,396

Currency differences – 11,587 – 29,663

Non-operating result 13,968 122,516

EBT – 5,802,888 – 8,192,974

Direct taxes – 29,608 – 7,582

Net income – 5,832,456 – 8,200,556

Income statement
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Year 2019 2020

Net income – 5,832,456 – 8,200,556

Depreciation 292,830 452,741

Non-cash expenses 5 3

Change in net working capital 120,655 39,389

Change in liabilities – 181,084 115,988

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income 86,669 370,504

Other non-cash components of earnings – 41 –

Cash flow from operating activities – 5,513,422 -7,221,932

Investments in property, plant and equipment – 1,267,905 – 866,233

Investments in subsidiaries – 188,673 –

Cash flow from investing activities – 1,456,579 -866,233

Issuance of debt 240,000

Equity contributions 8,632,111 10,056,926

Cash flow from financing activities 8,632,111 10,296,926

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,662,110 2,208,762

Cash and cash equivalents as of 01.01. 12,131,584 13,793,694

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31.12. 13,793,694 16,002,456

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,662,110 2,208,762

Cash flow statement in CHF 
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Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements InnoMedica 
Holding AG 2020
The 2020 consolidated financial statements include 

the companies of the InnoMedica Group. The scope 

of consolidation includes the individual companies 

InnoMedica Holding AG, InnoMedica Schweiz AG and 

YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. (domiciled in Ibaraki, Japan). 

InnoMedica Schweiz AG and YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. 

are wholly owned directly by InnoMedica Holding AG. 

InnoMedica Schweiz AG bundles the operational busi-

ness of the InnoMedica Group and is linked to Inno-

Medica Holding AG via a research and development 

contract. InnoMedica Holding AG is responsible for 

the strategic management and holds the intellectual 

property rights as well as the financial resources of 

the company. The purpose of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. 

is to hold patents in the field of liposomal drug delivery 

system. The share capital of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. 

is 10,000,000 Japanese yen.

The consolidated financial statements have been pre-

pared in accordance with the provisions of the Swiss 

Code of Obligations (OR) on commercial accounting 

and financial reporting. The income statement has 

been prepared using the nature of expense method 

and the cash flow from operating activities has been 

prepared using the indirect method. 

  

Valuation principles  
Securities: Securities are valued at market value at 

the balance sheet date. Price gains or losses and cur-

rency differences are recognized as such in the income 

statement. These are shares and securities available 

for sale in the short term and denominated in various 

currencies. The positions and valuation principles re-

main unchanged from the previous year.

Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and 

equipment are stated at purchase cost minus deprecia-

tion. As in the previous year, property, plant and equip-

ment are depreciated on a declining balance basis at a 

rate of 20 percent. The property, plant and equipment 

include machinery and equipment from the laborato-

ry, production and analytical departments, as well as 

three vehicles and various items of office equipment.

Classifications and explanations
Accruals and deferrals: Accruals and deferrals in-

clude operating credits on the asset side. On the li-

abilities side, costs already incurred and accruals for 

services received but not yet invoiced are recorded. 

OTC stock brokerage: InnoMedica matches interest-

ed parties for the purchase and sale of InnoMedica 

shares. InnoMedica makes itself available as adminis-

trator of the assets until the transaction is completed. 

In return, it charges an expense allowance for person-

nel expenses in the form of a transaction fee. 

Reserves from capital contributions: The reserves 

from capital contributions as of December 31, 2019 (in 

the amount of CHF 31,870,570 according to the indi-

vidual financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG) 

have been recognized by the Swiss Federal Tax Admin-

istration (FTA) in this amount. The reserves from capi-

tal contributions 2020 can only be declared after the 

audit of the annual financial statements and therefore 

are provisional until they are recognized by the FTA.

Treasury shares: At the balance sheet date, 13,716,872 

shares have been placed and 16,217 shares are held by 

InnoMedica. The current holding of treasury shares is 

valued at the effectively paid purchase price of CHF 

0.25 as of the balance sheet date. Gains on sales of 

treasury shares are recognized as other legal re-

serves. At the beginning of the reporting period, In-

noMedica still held 16,230 treasury shares. In the first 

half of 2020, 13 treasury shares were offset against 

outstanding invoices. No repurchase was made. 

Options on shares held by management and board 

members: For the pre-financing of the Covid-19 vaccine 

project, four shareholders of InnoMedica have provid-

ed short-term financing of CHF 60,000 each (interest: 

3 percent p.a.) as of March 30, 2020 (balance sheet 

item: liabilities to shareholders). Two of the sharehold-

ers, Dr. Peter Halbherr and Prof. Dr. Urs Wälchli, are 

members of the Board of Directors of InnoMedica. The 

shareholders were granted a call option in return for 

the provision of the loans. The call option entitles the 

shareholders to convert the loan amount into shares 

of InnoMedica Holding AG on December 31, 2020 at a 

price of CHF 27.10 per share. None of the shareholders 

has exercised this option as of December 31, 2020. The 

loan is repayable at the earliest on March 31, 2021.

Financial expenses and income: Financial expenses 

include bank interest and charges. Costs for the capital 
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increase are shown separately. Financial income in-

cludes dividends and interest on bank balances. 

Capital increase expense: The position is shown in-

cluding issue tax of CHF 85,454 for 2019 and CHF 

99,559 for 2020.

Non-operating result: This item includes income 

from a support payment from the Covid-19 immediate 

action program of the Canton of Bern in the amount 

of CHF 116,400 and income from a management  

service in favor of a third party in the amount of  

CHF 7,089. 

  

Additional information
Annual average of job percent: On average, 35 peo-

ple were employed by InnoMedica in 2020. The work 

volume amounted to an annual average of 3,118 job 

percent. With the exception of four members of the 

management of InnoMedica Holding AG, employees 

are employed by InnoMedica Schweiz AG.

Trust shares: In addition to treasury shares, InnoMed-

ica holds 4,174,241 shares of InnoMedica Holding AG in 

trust as of the end of 2020. In the previous year, there 

were 2,101,417 shares.

Remuneration of board members: The remuneration 

of CHF 10,000 per year for members of the Board of 

Directors is paid by decision of the Board of Directors 

for the period between the annual ordinary General 

Meetings. For the period 2020/2021, an honorarium of 

CHF 5,000 per person and a total of CHF 20,000 has 

been accrued in favor of the Board of Directors. 

Significant shareholders: On the balance sheet date, 

Dr. Peter Halbherr held 2,742,325 shares (20.0 per-

cent of 13,716,872) and Dr. Herbert Früh held 1,050,467 

shares (7.7 percent). No other shareholder held more 

than 5 percent of the shares as of December 31, 2020.

Business transactions with related parties: Business 

transactions with related parties are based on standard 

contractual forms and are concluded at market condi-

tions.

Events after the balance sheet date: There are no 

events after the balance sheet date that require rec-

ognition and have a material impact on the annual fi-

nancial statements.

Obligations from long-term contracts: InnoMedica 

Holding AG has entered into a long-term lease agree-

ment with the Marly Innovation Center (MIC) (renew-

able for a total of 21 years). This can be terminated uni-

laterally by InnoMedica with a notice period of 2 years 

and at the end of a quarter. This results in a rental obli-

gation of a maximum of 27 monthly rents at CHF 14,141 

each (total CHF 381,807) as of December 31, 2020. 

Auditor's fee: The auditor's fee amounts to CHF 

20,000 plus VAT for the audit of the annual report-

ing of the Group as well as the individual companies 

InnoMedica Holding AG and InnoMedica Schweiz AG.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Bahnhofplatz 10, Postfach, CH-3001 Bern, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 75 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 75 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of InnoMedica Holding AG, Zug 

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements 
As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, 
which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (p. 10, 11, 13, 14, 15), for the year 
ended 31 December 2020.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of Swiss law and the consolidation and valuation principles described in the notes. This responsibility in-
cludes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is 
further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material mis-
statement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pur-
pose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comply with Swiss law as 
well as with the consolidation and valuation principles described in the notes. 

Report on other legal requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Bern, 1 February 2021 

Hanspeter Gerber Andreas Scheibli 
Audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Audit expert 
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Annual financial statements  
InnoMedica Holding AG

Year 2019 2020

Assets CHF CHF

Cash and cash equivalents 13,624,478 11,544,171

Securities 131,748 144,325

Other current receivables 126,145 190,090

Prepaid expenses and accrued income – 1,980

Total current assets 13,882,371 11,880,565

Loans to Group companies – 4,000,000

Subsidiaries  2,269,768 2,269,768

Total fixed assets 2,269,768 6,269,768

Total assets as of 31.12. 16,152,139 18,150,334

Liabilities CHF CHF

Accounts payable 2,394 14,579

Liabilities to Group companies 1,118,448 1,707,741

Liabilities to shareholders – 240,000

Accrued expenses and deferred income 44,606 62,004

Total current liabilities 1,165,449 2,024,323 

Total long-term liabilities – – 

Share capital 1,334,576 1,371,687

Total reserves 33,787,591 43,807,406

Reserves from capital contributions

Other legal reserves

31,870,570
1,917,021

41,789,371 
2,018,035

Loss carried forward – 13,587,350 – 20,131,419

Annual loss – 6,544,069 – 8,917,609

Treasury shares – 4,058 – 4,054

Total shareholders' equity 14,986,690 16,126,010

Total liabilities and shareholders' equity as of 31.12. 16,152,139 18,150,334

3 See explanations in the Notes.

Balance sheet
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Year 2019 2020

Net sales CHF CHF

Total net sales – –

Costs of materials and services

Development expenses – 5,308,100 – 7'804,270

Total costs of materials and services – 5,308,100 – 7'804,270

Personnel expenses 

Wages and salaries – 661,268 – 719,458

Social security expenses – 84,991 – 100,277

Other personnel expenses – 36,835 – 24,189

Total personnel expenses – 783,093 – 843,924

Other operating expenses

Administrative expensesd – 154,448 – 76,939

Capital increase expense – 279,413 – 211,513

Total other operating expenses – 433,860 – 288,452

EBITDA / EBIT – 6,525,054 – 8,936,646

Financial expenses – 22,100 – 16,617

Financial income 929 42,508

Value adjustment on securities 19,602 16,396

Currency differences – 1,626 – 17,906

Non-operating result 4,926 –

EBT – 6,523,323 – 8'912,266

Capital taxes – 20,746 – 5,344

Net income – 6,544,069 – 8'917,609

Income statement
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Year 2019 2020

Net income – 6,544,069 – 8,917,609

Non-cash expenses 5 3

Change in net working capital – 26,126 – 78,502

Change in liabilities 1,118,448 601,477

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income – 165,437 17,398

Cash flow from operating activities – 5,617,178 – 8,377,234

Investments in subsidiaries – 1,188,673 –

Cash flow from investing activities – 1,188,673 –

Loan to Group company – 4'000,000

Issuance of debt – 240,000

Equity contributions 8,632,111 10,056,926

Cash flow from financing activities 8,632,111 6,296,926

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,826,259 – 2,080,308

Cash and cash equivalents as of 01.01. 11,798,219 13,624,478 

Cash and cash equivalents as of 31.12. 13,624,478 11,544,171 

Change in cash and cash equivalents 1,826,259 – 2,080,308

Cash flow statement in CHF 
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Notes to the financial statements 
InnoMedica Holding AG 2020

The 2020 financial statements of InnoMedica Hold-

ing AG comprise the separate financial statements of  

InnoMedica's parent company. InnoMedica Holding AG 

fully owns InnoMedica Schweiz AG and YAMAZAKI-

DDS Co., Ltd. InnoMedica Schweiz AG bundles the op-

erating business of the InnoMedica Group and is linked 

to InnoMedica Holding AG via a research and develop-

ment contract. The purpose of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., 

Ltd. is to hold patents in the field of liposomal drug 

delivery system. The share capital of YAMAZAKI-DDS 

Co., Ltd. is 10,000,000 Japanese yen.

The financial statements have been prepared in ac-

cordance with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Ob-

ligations (OR) on commercial accounting and financial 

reporting. The income statement has been prepared 

using the nature of expense method and the cash flow 

from operating activities has been prepared using the 

indirect method. Further notes to the financial state-

ments of InnoMedica Holding AG (valuation principles, 

classifications and explanations as well as other infor-

mation) can be found in the notes to the consolidated 

financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG (see  

P 14/P 15).

Classifications and explanations
Subsidiaries: The subsidiaries include YAMAZAKI-

DDS Co., Ltd. and InnoMedica Schweiz AG. The in-

vestment in YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. continues to be 

valued at CHF 200,000 and comprises intellectual 

property assets (patents) in the nanomedicine field. 

The investment in InnoMedica Schweiz AG is valued at 

the amortized cost of CHF 188,714 plus the value of 

the transferred assets of CHF 1,881,095. With an as-

set transfer agreement, InnoMedica Holding AG trans-

ferred property, plant and equipment in the amount of 

CHF 877,603, cash and cash equivalents in the amount 

of CHF 1,000,000 and prepaid expenses in the amount 

of CHF 3,492 to InnoMedica Schweiz AG as of January 1, 

2019.  

Carrying forward of net loss
The loss of CHF 8,917,609 is added to the loss carried 

forward of CHF 20,131,419 and the balance is trans-

ferred to the new account.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Bahnhofplatz 10, Postfach, CH-3001 Bern, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 75 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 75 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of InnoMedica Holding AG, Zug 

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 
As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, which comprise 
the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (p. 17 - 20), for the year ended 31 December 2020.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements 
of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and main-
taining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of mate-
rial misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-
tor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 comply with Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. 

Report on other legal requirements 

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence. In accordance with 
article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists 
which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Direc-
tors. We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.  

Furthermore, we draw attention to the fact that half of the share capital and legal reserves is no longer covered (article 
725 para. 1 CO). 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

 

Hanspeter Gerber Andreas Scheibli 

Audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Audit expert 

 
Bern, 1 February 2021 
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Audited consolidated financial statements (Swiss Code of Obligations) as of December 31, 2019

Consolidated financial statements 
InnoMedica Holding AG

Year 20182 2019

Assets CHF CHF

Cash and cash equivalents 11,798,219 13,793,694

Securities 112,833 131,748

Other current receivables 118,933 130,930

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 3,492 –

Total current assets 12,033,478 14,056,373

Financial assets – 72,821

Property, plant and equipment  877,603 1,856,170

Intangible assets 200,000 200,000

Total fixed assets 1,077,603 2,128,991

Total assets, December 31st 13,111,081 16,185,364

Liabilities CHF CHF

Accounts payable  81,705 62,290

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities – 75,381

Accrued expenses and deferred income  130,733 349,389

Total current liabilities 212,437 487,061

Total long-term liabilities  –  –

Share capital  1,296,484  1,334,576 

Total legal reserves 25,193,573 33,698,877

Reserves from capital contribution

Other legal reserves

23,363,467

1,830,106

31,781,856

1,917,021

Loss carried forward  – 8,524,843 – 13,498,636

Loss of the year  – 5,062,507 – 5,832,456

Treasury shares  – 4,063 – 4,058

Total shareholders’ equity 12,898,644 15,698,304

Total liabilities, December 31st 13,111,081 16,185,364

2 For yearly comparisons, 2018 figures refer to financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG (before integration of IPAG).

Balance sheet
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Audited consolidated financial statements (Swiss Code of Obligations) as of December 31, 2019

Year 20183 2019

Operating income CHF CHF

Total operating income  – –

Goods and services expenses

Development expenses – 1,114,545 – 1,141,210

Total goods and services expenses – 1,114,545 – 1,141,210

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries – 2,036,432 – 2,847,703

Social security expenses – 499,807 – 411,362

Other personnel expenses – 95,011 – 231,377

Total personnel expenses – 2,631,250 – 3,490,442

Other operating expenses

Infrastructure expenditures – 263,409 – 318,544

Vehicle and transport costs – 7,500 – 6,907

Insurance costs and fees – 4,585 – 4,541

Administrative expenditures – 370,386 – 211,139

Capital increase expenditures – 382,131 – 279,413

IT expenditures – 15,262 – 47,520

Advertising expenditures – 46,346 – 10,272

Total other operating expenses – 1,089,619 – 878,336

EBITDA – 4,835,414 – 5,509,989

Depreciation – 219,401 – 292,830

EBIT – 5,055,770 – 5,802,819

Financial expenses – 1,883 – 22,982

Financial income 915 929

Value adjustment on securities – 133 19,602

Exchange rate differences – 823 – 11,587

Non-operating results – 13,968

EBT – 5,056,738 – 5,802,888

Direct taxes – 5,770 – 29,608

Loss for the year – 5,062,507 – 5,832,456

3 For yearly comparisons, 2018 figures refer to financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG (before integration of IPAG).

Income statement
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Year 20184 2019

Net income – 5,062,507 – 5,832,456

Depreciation 219,401 292,830

Non-cash expenses 618 5

Change in net current assets 31,521 120,655

Change in accounts payable – – 181,084

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income – 35,447 86,669

Other non-cash components of earnings – – 41

Cash flow from operating activities – 4,846,415 – 5,513,422

Investments in property, plant and equipment – 565,280 – 1,267,905

Investments in subsidiaries – – 188,673

Cash flow from investment activities – 565,280 – 1,456,579

Equity contributions 10,249,736 8,632,111

Cash flow from financing activities 10,249,736 8,632,111

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,838,041 1,662,110

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1st 6,960,178 12,131,584

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31st 11,798,219 13,793,694

Change in cash and cash equivalents 4,838,041 1,662,110

Cash flow statement in CHF 

4 For yearly comparisons, 2018 figures refer to financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG (before integration of IPAG).
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Audited consolidated financial statements (Swiss Code of Obligations) as of December 31, 2019

Notes to the consolidated  
financial statements InnoMedica 
Holding AG 2019
The 2019 consolidated financial statements include 

the companies of the InnoMedica group, consolidat-

ing the InnoMedica Holding AG, InnoMedica Schweiz 

AG, and YAMAZAKI-DDS Co. The InnoMedica Schweiz 

AG and YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. are entirely owned 

by InnoMedica Holding AG. InnoMedica Schweiz AG 

bundles the operating business of the InnoMedica 

Group and is linked to the InnoMedica Holding AG by a 

research and development contract. InnoMedica Hold-

ing AG is responsible for the strategic management 

and holds the intellectual property rights as well as 

the financial means of the company. The purpose of 

YAMAZAKI-DDS Co, Ltd. is to hold patents relating to 

the liposomal drug delivery system. The share capital 

of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. is 10,000,000 Japanese 

yen.

The consolidated financial statements are for the first 

time prepared by InnoMedica holding AG following the 

acquisition of InnoMedica Schweiz AG (formerly: IPAG 

Inter Personal AG) as of 1 January 2019. The compara-

tive figures derive from the 2018 financial report of 

the InnoMedica Holding AG (unconsolidated).

 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations 

(OR). The income statement is presented using the 

total cost method and the cash flow from operating 

activities using the indirect method.

Valuation principles 
Securities: Securities are valued at market value on 

the balance sheet date. Exchange gains or losses and 

currency exchange differences are recorded as such 

in the income statement. The securities comprise 

shares and securities in different currencies available 

for sale in the short term. The positions and valuation 

principles remain unchanged from the previous year.

Treasury shares: On the balance sheet date, 

13,345,760 shares have been placed and 16,230 trea-

sury shares are held by InnoMedica (each after share 

splitting 1:10 in 2019). The treasury shares are valued 

at the effective purchase price of CHF 0.25 on the 

balance sheet date. Gains from the sale of treasury 

shares are recorded in other legal reserves. At the be-

ginning of the reporting period InnoMedica held 1,625 

treasury shares (before share splitting). In the first 

half of 2019 a total of two treasury shares were offset 

against outstanding invoices (before share splitting). 

No repurchases were made.

Property, plant, and equipment: Property, plant, and 

equipment are recorded at acquisition cost minus the 

required depreciation. As in the previous year, prop-

erty, plant and equipment are depreciated using the 

declining balance method at a rate of 20 percent. 

Property, plant, and equipment includes machinery 

and equipment for laboratories, production, and 

analysis, as well as three vehicles and various office 

equipment.

Classifications and explanations
Accruals and deferred income: Accruals and deferred 

income include operating credits on the assets side. 

The liabilities reflect incurred costs and accruals for 

services received but not yet invoiced.

OTC stock brokerage: InnoMedica brings together 

interested parties for the purchase and sale of Inno-

Medica shares. InnoMedica acts as administrator of 

the assets until the transaction is completed. In return, 

it charges a compensation for personnel expenses in 

the form of a transaction fee.

Reserves from capital contributions: The reserves 

from capital contributions as of December 31, 2018 (in 

the amount of CHF 23,363,467 according to the indi-

vidual financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG) 

have been recognized by the Swiss Federal Tax Admin-

istration (FTA) in this amount. The reserves from capi-

tal contributions in 2019 can only be declared based 

on the audited financial statements and are therefore 

of a provisional nature until recognized by the FTA.

Financial expenses and income: Financial expenses 

include bank interests and charges. Costs for the capi-

tal increase are reported separately. Financial income 

includes dividends and interest on bank balances. 

Capital increase expenses: The reported amount in-

cludes an issue tax of CHF 101,475 for 2018 and CHF 

85,454 for 2019.

Expenses for direct taxes: Tax expenses of CHF 

29,608 in 2019 have increased compared to the pre-

vious year. They include accruals for expected taxes 

of the InnoMedica Group in the amount of CHF 15,228.
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Non-operating income: This item contains income 

from the disposal of tangible assets.

Additional information
Annual average of full-time positions: At the end of 

2019, InnoMedica employed 29 people. The work vol-

ume was equivalent to a yearly average of 2,626 job 

percentages. With the exception of four members of 

the Executive Board of InnoMedica Holding AG, all em-

ployees are employed by InnoMedica Schweiz AG.

Shares held in trust (fiduciary shares): In addition 

to the treasury shares, InnoMedica manages 2,101,417 

fiduciary shares (after share splitting) of the Inno-

Medica Holding AG at the end of 2019. In the previ-

ous year there were 203,033 fiduciary shares (before 

share splitting).

Remuneration of board members: The remuneration 

of CHF 10,000 per year for members of the Board of 

Directors is paid by decision of the Board of Directors 

for the period between the Annual General Meetings. 

For the period 2019/2020, a compensation of CHF 

5,000 per person and a total of CHF 20,000 accrue in 

financial reports. 

Significant shareholders: On the balance sheet date, 

Dr. Peter Halbherr held 2,813,315 (21.1 % of 13,345,760) 

and Dr. Herbert Früh 1,077,880 (8.1 %) shares. No oth-

er shareholder held more than 5 % of the shares on 

December 31, 2019.

Business transactions with related parties: Busi-

ness transactions with related parties are based on 

standard contractual forms and are concluded at mar-

ket conditions. 

Events after the balance sheet date: There are no 

events after the balance sheet date that need to be 

taken into account and which have a substantial influ-

ence on the annual reports.

Obligations under long-term contracts: InnoMedica 

Holding AG has entered into a long-term lease agree-

ment with the Marly Innovation Center (MIC). It can be 

terminated unilaterally by InnoMedica with a notice 

period of 2 years to the end of the quarter. This results 

in a rental obligation of at least 27 monthly rents of 

CHF 13,675 each (total CHF 369,225) as of December 

31, 2019. 

Auditor’s fee: The auditors’ fee is CHF 32,000 plus 

VAT for auditing the annual and semi-annual reports 

of the Group and the individual companies InnoMedica 

Holding AG and InnoMedica Schweiz AG.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of InnoMedica Holding AG, Zug 

Report of the statutory auditor on the consolidated financial statements 
As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, 
which comprise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (p. 10, 11, 13, 14, 15), for the year 
ended 31 December 2019.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the 
requirements of Swiss law and the consolidation and valuation principles described in the notes. This responsibility in-
cludes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is 
further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and per-
form the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material mis-
statement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pur-
pose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluat-
ing the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 comply with Swiss law as 
well as with the consolidation and valuation principles described in the notes. 

Report on other legal requirements 
We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal 
control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial statements according to the 
instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Bern, 27 February 2020 

Hanspeter Gerber Andreas Scheibli 
Audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Audit expert 
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Audited financial statements (Swiss Code of Obligations) as of December 31, 2019

Financial Statements  
InnoMedica Holding AG

Year 2018 2019

Assets CHF CHF

Cash and cash equivalents 11,798,219 13,624,478

Securities 112,833 131,748

Other current receivables 118,933 126,145

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 3,492 – 

Total current assets 12,033,478 13,882,371

Subsidiaries4 200,000 2,269,768

Property, plant and equipment 877,603 – 

Total fixed assets 1,077,603 2,269,768

Total assets, December 31st 13,111,081 16,152,139

Liabilities CHF CHF

Accounts payable trade 81,705 2,394 

Liabilities to group companies – 1,118,448 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 130,733 44,606 

Total current liabilities 212,437 1,165,449 

Total long-term liabilities – – 

Share capital 1,296,484 1,334,576 

Total legal reserves 25,193,573 33,787,591 

Reserves from capital contribution

Other legal reserves

23,363,467

1,830,106

31,870,570

1,917,021

Loss carried forward – 8,524,843 – 13,587,350 

Loss of the year – 5,062,507 – 6,544,069 

Treasury shares – 4,063 – 4,058 

Total shareholders’ equity 12,898,644 14,986,690

Total liabilities, December 31st 13,111,081 16,152,139

5  See explanations in the annex.

Balance sheet
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Year 2018 2019

Net revenues CHF CHF

Total net revenues  – –

Goods and services expenses

Development expenses – 1,114,545 – 5,308,100

Total goods and services expenses – 1,114,545 – 5,308,100

Personnel expenses

Wages and salaries – 2,036,432 – 661,268

Social security expenses – 499,807 – 84,991 

Other personnel expenses – 95,011 – 36,835 

Total personnel expenses – 2,631,250 – 783,093

Other operating expenses

Infrastructure expenditures – 263,409 – 

Vehicle and transport costs – 7,500 – 

Property insurance and fees – 4,585 – 

Administrative expenditures – 370,386 – 154,448

Capital increase expenditures – 382,131 – 279,413

IT expenditures – 15,262 – 

Advertising expenditures – 46,346 – 

Total other operating expenses – 1,089,619 – 433,860

EBITDA – 4,835,414 – 6,525,054

Depreciation – 219,401 – 

EBIT – 5,054,814 – 6,525,054

Financial expenses – 1,883 – 22,100

Financial income 915 929

Value adjustment on securities – 133 19,602

Exchange rate differences – 823 – 1,626

Non-operating results – 4,926

EBT – 5,056,738 – 6,523,323

Direct taxes – 5,770 – 20,746

Loss for the year – 5,062,507 – 6,544,069

Income statement
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Year 2018 2019

Net income – 5,062,507 – 6,544,069

Depreciation 219,401 – 

Non-cash expenses 618 5

Change in net current assets 31,521 – 26,126

Change in accounts payable – 1,118,448

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income – 35,447 – 165,437

Cash flow from operating activities – 4,846,415 – 5,617,178

Investments in property, plant and equipment – 565,280 –

Investments in subsidiaries – – 1,188,673

Cash flow from investment activities – 565,280 – 1,188,673

Equity contributions 10,249,736 8,632,111

Cash flow from financing activities 10,249,736 8,632,111

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,838,041 1,826,259

Cash and cash equivalents, January 1st 6,960,178 11,798,219

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31st 11,798,219 13,624,478

Change in cash and cash equivalents 4,838,041 1,826,259

Cash flow statement in CHF 
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Notes to the annual  
financial statements InnoMedica  
Holding AG 2019
The financial statements 2019 of InnoMedica Holding 

AG comprise the separate financial statements of the 

parent company of the InnoMedica Group. InnoMedica 

Holding AG fully owns the InnoMedica Schweiz AG 

and the YAMAZAKI-DDS Co, Ltd. InnoMedica Schweiz 

AG bundles the operating business of the InnoMedica 

Group and is linked to InnoMedica Holding AG by a 

research and development contract. The purpose of 

YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. is to hold patents relating to 

the liposomal drug delivery system. The share capital of 

YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. is 10,000,000 Japanese yen.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance 

with the provisions of the Swiss Code of Obligations 

(OR) on commercial bookkeeping and accounting. The 

income statement is presented using the total cost 

method and the cash flow from operating activities us-

ing the indirect method. 

Additional note information (valuation principles, break-

downs and explanations as well as other information) 

is contained in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements of InnoMedica Holding AG (see pages 14/15).

Classifications and explanations
Subsidiaries: The subisidiaries include YAMAZAKI-

DDS Co, Ltd. (based in Ibaraki, Japan) and InnoMedica 

Schweiz AG (based in Bern, Switzerland). The invest-

ment in YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. continues to be 

valued at CHF 200,000 and comprises intellectual 

property assets (patents) in the nanomedicine field. 

The investment in InnoMedica Schweiz AG is valued at 

the amortized purchase price of CHF 188,714 plus the 

value of the transferred assets of CHF 1,881,095. Inno-

Medica has transferred property, plant and equipment 

in the amount of CHF 877,603, cash and cash equiv-

alents in the amount of CHF 1,000,000, and prepaid 

expenses and deferred charges in the amount of CHF 

3,492 by way of an asset transfer agreement from the 

InnoMedica Holding AG to the InnoMedica Schweiz AG.

Carrying forward of net loss
The loss of CHF 5,832,456 is added to the loss carried 

forward of CHF 13,498,636 and the balance is trans-

ferred to the new account.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of InnoMedica Holding AG, Zug 

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 
As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, which comprise 
the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (p. 17 - 20), for the year ended 31 December 2019.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements 
of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes designing, implementing and main-
taining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Directors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of mate-
rial misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the audi-
tor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements in order to design  
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 comply with Swiss law and the company’s 
articles of incorporation. 

Report on other legal requirements 

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and inde-
pendence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our independence.  In accordance with 
article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that an internal control system exists 
which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements according to the instructions of the Board of Direc-
tors. We further confirm that the proposed appropriation of available earnings complies with Swiss law and the com-
pany’s articles of incorporation. We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved.  

Furthermore, we draw attention to the fact that half of the share capital and legal reserves is no longer covered (article 
725 para. 1 CO). 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

 

Hanspeter Gerber Andreas Scheibli 

Audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Audit expert 

 
Bern, 27 February 2020 
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Audited financial statements (Swiss Code of Obligations) as of December 31, 2018

Year 12/31/2017 12/31/2018

Assets  CHF  CHF

Cash and cash equivalents 6,960,178 11,798,219

Securities 112,573 112,833

Accounts receivable – -

Other current receivables 122,869 118,933

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 31,338 3,492

Total current assets 7,226,958 12,033,478

Financial assets – –

Subsidiaries (YDDS) 200,000 200,000

Property, plant and equipment 531,723 877,603

Total non-current assets 731,723 1,077,603

Total assets, December 31st 7,958,681 13,111,081
   

Liabilities   

Accounts payable 185,378              81,705 

Short-term interest-bearing liabilities  –  – 

Accrued expenses and deferred income 62,506            130,733 

Total short-term liabilities 247,884            212,437 

Long-term liabilities – –

Share capital 1’246,728         1,296,484 

Total legal reserves 14,992,982       25,193,573 

Reserves from capital contribution 13,265,731             23,363,467 

Other legal reserves 1,727,251                1,830,106 

Loss carried forward     – 5,364,516        – 8,524,843 

Loss of the year  – 3,160,327        – 5,062,507 

Treasury shares – 4,070           – 4,063 

Total shareholders’ equity 7,710,797       12,898,644 

Total liabilities, December 31st 7,958,681       13,111,081 

Balance sheet

Financial Statements
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Year 2017 2018

Operating income  CHF  CHF

Total operating income – – 

Goods and services expenses   

Development expenses – 778,207 – 1,114,545

Total goods and services expenses – 778,207 – 1,114,545

Personnel expenses   

Total personnel expenses – 1,552,255 – 2,631,250

Other operating expenses   

Infrastructure expenditure – 185,952 – 263,409

Vehicle and transport costs – 6,805 – 7,500

Property insurance and fees – 3,148 – 4,585

Administration expenditure – 222,206 – 370,386

Capital increase expenditure 2 – 209,804 – 382,131

IT expenditure – 30,476 – 15,262

Advertising expenditure – 36,589 – 46,346

Total other operating expenses – 694,979 – 1,089,619

EBITDA – 3,025,441 – 4,835,414
Depreciation – 132,931 – 219,401

Allowance securities 11,802 – 133

Translation differences 6,463 – 823

EBIT – 3,140,107 – 5,055,770
Financial expense – 3,052 – 1,883

Interest expense (convertible bond) – 15,691 –

Financial income 632 915

EBT – 3,158,219 – 5,056,738
Direct taxes – 2,108 – 5,770

Loss for the year – 3,160,327 – 5,062,507

Income statement

2  The income statement item Capital increase expenses includes the issue tax of CHF 76,291 for 2017 and CHF 101,475 for 2018.
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Year 2017 2018

Net income – 3,160,327 – 5,062,507

Depreciation 132,931 219,401

Non-cash expenses 3 20,289 618

Change in net current assets – 130,267 31,521

Change in accrued expenses and deferred income 224,424 -35,447

Cash Flow from operative activities – 2,912,950 – 4,846,415
Investments in property, plant and equipment – 346,334 – 565,280

Cash flow from investment activities – 346,334 – 565,280 
Interest (convertible bond) – 15,691 –

Equity contributions 6,660,255 10,249,736

Cash flow from financing activities 6,644,564 10,249,736

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  3,385,280 4,838,041
Cash and cash equivalents, January 1 st 3,574,898 6,960,178

Cash and cash equivalents, December 31 st 6,960,178 11,798,219

Change in cash and cash equivalents 3,385,280 4,838,041

Cash flow statement in CHF
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Notes to the Financial  
Statements 2018

The present financial statements have been prepared 

in accordance with the principles of the Swiss Code of  

Obligations (CO) as of April 1, 2017. The balance sheet 

and income statement correspond to the minimum 

breakdown required by the Swiss Code of Obligations 

(Art. 959a and Art. 959b of the Swiss Code of Obli-

gations) and are based on going concern values (Art. 

958a para. 1 of the Swiss Code of Obligations). The 

income statement was prepared using the total cost 

method and the cash flow from operating activities  

using the indirect method.

Valuation principles  

Securities: Securities are valued at market value on 

the balance sheet date. Price gains or losses as well 

as currency differences are recognized as such in the 

income statement. These are shares and marketable 

securities available for sale in various currencies. The 

positions and valuation principles remained the same 

as in the previous year.

Participations: The direct investment in YAMAZAKI- 

DDS Co., Ltd. is recorded at cost. If indications of 

write-downs appear on the basis of market infor- 

mation or the development of business operations, 

corresponding value adjustments are made.

Treasury shares: At balance sheet date, 1,294,859 of 

1,296,484 shares were placed and 1,625 shares were 

held by InnoMedica. The current stock of 1,625 trea-

sury shares is valued at the effective purchase price 

of CHF 2.50 on the balance sheet date. Gains from 

the sale of these shares are recorded as other legal 

reserves. At the beginning of the reporting period, 

InnoMedica held 1,628 of its own shares. A total of 

three shares were offset against outstanding invoices 

in fiscal year 2018. No repurchases were made. In the 

previous year, 80 own shares were sold and also no 

repurchases were made. 

Property, plant and equipment: Property, plant and 

equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depre- 

ciation. As in the previous year, property, plant and 

equipment are depreciated using the straight-line 

method at a rate of 20 percent. Property, plant and 

equipment includes machinery and equipment from 

the laboratory, production and analytics as well as 

three vehicles and various office equipment.

Classifications and explanations

Accruals and deferred income: Accrued expenses 

and deferred income include operating income on 

the assets side as well as costs already incurred and  

accruals for share brokerage transactions not yet 

completed (see OTC share brokerage) on the liabilities 

side. 

Subsidiaries (YDDS): YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. holds 

patents in the field of liposomal drug delivery sys-

tems. The share capital of YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. 

is 10,000,000 Japanese yen. As in the previous year, 

YAMAZAKI-DDS Co., Ltd. based in Ibaraki, Japan, is 

100 percent directly owned by InnoMedica and will 

continue to be included in fixed assets at an acqui- 

sition cost of CHF 200,000.

OTC stock brokerage: In fiscal 2018, the Investor 

Relations department brought together interested  

parties for the purchase and sale of InnoMedica 

shares. InnoMedica acted as manager of the assets 

until the closing of the transaction. For this purpose, 

it demanded compensation for personnel expenses 

in the form of a transaction fee. Deferred income is 

recognized for transactions not completed as of the 

balance sheet date.  

Reserves from capital contributions: Reserves from 

capital contributions have been recognized by the 

Swiss Federal Tax Administration (FTA) at this level 

until the 2017 financial year. Reserves from capital 

contributions in 2018 can only be declared after the 

annual accounts have been audited and are therefore 

provisional until they are recognized by the FTA.

Financial expenses and income: Financial expenses 

include bank interest and fees. Costs for the capital  

increase are shown separately. Financial income  

includes dividends and interest on bank balances.
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Additional information

Annual average of full-time positions: As in previ-

ous years, employees are hired under an outsourcing 

agreement with IPAG Inter Personal AG (IPAG). Inno-

Medica does not have any other personnel hires. On 

an annual average, 22 persons with a work volume of 

2,058 percentage points were permanently employed 

at IPAG. In the 2017 financial year, the annual average 

of job percentages was 1,454. 

Trust shares: In addition to treasury shares, Inno- 

Medica holds 188,853 InnoMedica shares in trust 

at the end of 2018. In the previous year, there were 

166,946 shares.

Remuneration of Board members: The fee is paid 

by decision of the Board of Directors for the period 

between the annual General Meetings. A fee of CHF 

10,000 per person and a total of CHF 40,000 for the 

period 2017/2018 was paid to the Board of Directors. 

For the period 2018/2019, deferred income at the 

same rate totaling CHF 25,000 was accrued. Under  

the IPAG service agreement, Dr. Peter Halbherr  

received a salary of CHF 154,892 as General Manager.

Significant shareholders: On the balance sheet date, 

Dr. Peter Halbherr held 290,859 (22.4 % of 1,296,484) 

and Dr. Herbert Früh 111,466 shares (8.6 %). No other  

shareholder held more than 5 % of the shares on  

December 31, 2018. 

Business transactions with related parties: Busi-

ness transactions with related parties and companies 

are based on standard commercial forms of contract 

and are concluded at normal market conditions.

Events after the balance sheet date: There are no  

events after the balance sheet date that require con- 

sideration and have a significant impact on the finan- 

cial statements. InnoMedica intends to terminate the 

service contract with the outsourcing partner IPAG 

Inter Personal AG (IPAG) in the financial year 2019 

and to acquire IPAG as part of a corporate acquisiti-

on. After the renaming, IPAG will become InnoMedica 

(Schweiz) AG and a subsidiary of InnoMedica Holding 

AG (Zug).

 

Obligations under long-term contracts: InnoMedica 

has entered into a long-term lease agreement with 

the Marly Innovation Center (MIC). It is unilateral-

ly terminable by InnoMedica with a notice period of  

2 years and at the end of every quarter. As of Decem-

ber 31, 2018, this results in a rental obligation of CHF 

11’685 rent for at least 27 months (total CHF 315’485).

Auditor’s fee: In addition to auditing services, the  

auditors also provided other consulting services in 

relation to accounting and the capital increase. A flat 

rate of CHF 15,000 plus VAT was set for the auditor’s 

fee.

Going concern: As of December 31, 2018, half of the 

share capital and the legal reserves are no longer  

covered (capital loss) in accordance with Art. 725 Para.  

1 of the Swiss Code of Obligations. The continuity of the  

company will be ensured by the Board of Directors  

with an approved capital increase in 2019. The capi- 

tal increase includes the issuance of a maximum of 

103,516 shares at a share price of CHF 226.60. In case 

of a full subscription, a total of CHF 23,456,725.60 

new equity can be raised. This measure will ensure 

the company’s ability to continue as going concern.

Carrying forward of net loss

The loss of CHF 5,062,507 is added to the loss carried 

forward of CHF 8,524,843 and the balance is trans-

ferred to the new account.

 

 
PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Birchstrasse 160, Postfach, CH-8050 Zürich, Switzerland 
Telefon: +41 58 792 44 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 44 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of InnoMedica Holding AG 

Zug 

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, which com-
prise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (pages 10, 11, 12, 14 , 15), for the 
year ended 31 December 2018.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Di-
rectors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making ac-
counting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the finan-
cial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 comply with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, which com-
prise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (pages 10, 11, 12, 14 , 15), for the 
year ended 31 December 2018.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Di-
rectors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making ac-
counting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the finan-
cial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 comply with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG, Birchstrasse 160, Postfach, 8050 Zürich 
Telefon: +41 58 792 44 00, Telefax: +41 58 792 44 10, www.pwc.ch 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG ist Mitglied eines globalen Netzwerks von rechtlich selbständigen und voneinander unabhängigen Gesellschaften. 

Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
an die Generalversammlung der InnoMedica Holding AG 

Zug 

Bericht der Revisionsstelle zur Jahresrechnung 

Als Revisionsstelle haben wir die Jahresrechnung der InnoMedica Holding AG bestehend aus Bilanz, Er-
folgsrechnung, Geldflussrechnung und Anhang (Seiten 10 bis 14) für das am 31. Dezember 2016 abge-
schlossene Geschäftsjahr geprüft.  

Verantwortung des Verwaltungsrates 
Der Verwaltungsrat ist für die Aufstellung der Jahresrechnung in Übereinstimmung mit den gesetzlichen 
Vorschriften und den Statuten verantwortlich. Diese Verantwortung beinhaltet die Ausgestaltung, Imple-
mentierung und Aufrechterhaltung eines internen Kontrollsystems mit Bezug auf die Aufstellung einer 
Jahresrechnung, die frei von wesentlichen falschen Angaben als Folge von Verstössen oder Irrtümern ist. 
Darüber hinaus ist der Verwaltungsrat für die Auswahl und die Anwendung sachgemässer Rechnungsle-
gungsmethoden sowie die Vornahme angemessener Schätzungen verantwortlich. 

Verantwortung der Revisionsstelle 
Unsere Verantwortung ist es, aufgrund unserer Prüfung ein Prüfungsurteil über die Jahresrechnung ab-
zugeben. Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz und den 
Schweizer Prüfungsstandards vorgenommen. Nach diesen Standards haben wir die Prüfung so zu planen 
und durchzuführen, dass wir hinreichende Sicherheit gewinnen, ob die Jahresrechnung frei von wesentli-
chen falschen Angaben ist.  

Eine Prüfung beinhaltet die Durchführung von Prüfungshandlungen zur Erlangung von Prüfungsnach-
weisen für die in der Jahresrechnung enthaltenen Wertansätze und sonstigen Angaben. Die Auswahl der 
Prüfungshandlungen liegt im pflichtgemässen Ermessen des Prüfers. Dies schliesst eine Beurteilung der 
Risiken wesentlicher falscher Angaben in der Jahresrechnung als Folge von Verstössen oder Irrtümern 
ein. Bei der Beurteilung dieser Risiken berücksichtigt der Prüfer das interne Kontrollsystem, soweit es für 
die Aufstellung der Jahresrechnung von Bedeutung ist, um die den Umständen entsprechenden Prüfungs-
handlungen festzulegen, nicht aber um ein Prüfungsurteil über die Wirksamkeit des internen Kontrollsys-
tems abzugeben. Die Prüfung umfasst zudem die Beurteilung der Angemessenheit der angewandten 
Rechnungslegungsmethoden, der Plausibilität der vorgenommenen Schätzungen sowie eine Würdigung 
der Gesamtdarstellung der Jahresrechnung. Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prü-
fungsnachweise eine ausreichende und angemessene Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil bilden. 

Prüfungsurteil 
Nach unserer Beurteilung entspricht die Jahresrechnung für das am 31. Dezember 2016 abgeschlossene 
Geschäftsjahr dem schweizerischen Gesetz und den Statuten. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG is a member of the global PricewaterhouseCoopers network of firms, each of which is a separate and independent legal entity. 

Report of the statutory auditor 
to the General Meeting of InnoMedica Holding AG 

Zug 

Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, which com-
prise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (pages 10, 11, 12, 14 , 15), for the 
year ended 31 December 2018.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Di-
rectors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making ac-
counting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the finan-
cial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 comply with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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Report of the statutory auditor on the financial statements 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the financial statements of InnoMedica Holding AG, which com-
prise the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement and notes (pages 10, 11, 12, 14 , 15), for the 
year ended 31 December 2018.  

Board of Directors’ responsibility 
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with 
the requirements of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibility includes 
designing, implementing and maintaining an internal control system relevant to the preparation of finan-
cial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Board of Di-
rectors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies and making ac-
counting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We con-
ducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are 
free from material misstatement.  

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s 
preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the cir-
cumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control system. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the finan-
cial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 comply with Swiss law and 
the company’s articles of incorporation. 
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PricewaterhouseCoopers AG ist Mitglied eines globalen Netzwerks von rechtlich selbständigen und voneinander unabhängigen Gesellschaften. 

Bericht der Revisionsstelle 
an die Generalversammlung der InnoMedica Holding AG 

Zug 

Bericht der Revisionsstelle zur Jahresrechnung 

Als Revisionsstelle haben wir die Jahresrechnung der InnoMedica Holding AG bestehend aus Bilanz, Er-
folgsrechnung, Geldflussrechnung und Anhang (Seiten 10 bis 14) für das am 31. Dezember 2016 abge-
schlossene Geschäftsjahr geprüft.  

Verantwortung des Verwaltungsrates 
Der Verwaltungsrat ist für die Aufstellung der Jahresrechnung in Übereinstimmung mit den gesetzlichen 
Vorschriften und den Statuten verantwortlich. Diese Verantwortung beinhaltet die Ausgestaltung, Imple-
mentierung und Aufrechterhaltung eines internen Kontrollsystems mit Bezug auf die Aufstellung einer 
Jahresrechnung, die frei von wesentlichen falschen Angaben als Folge von Verstössen oder Irrtümern ist. 
Darüber hinaus ist der Verwaltungsrat für die Auswahl und die Anwendung sachgemässer Rechnungsle-
gungsmethoden sowie die Vornahme angemessener Schätzungen verantwortlich. 

Verantwortung der Revisionsstelle 
Unsere Verantwortung ist es, aufgrund unserer Prüfung ein Prüfungsurteil über die Jahresrechnung ab-
zugeben. Wir haben unsere Prüfung in Übereinstimmung mit dem schweizerischen Gesetz und den 
Schweizer Prüfungsstandards vorgenommen. Nach diesen Standards haben wir die Prüfung so zu planen 
und durchzuführen, dass wir hinreichende Sicherheit gewinnen, ob die Jahresrechnung frei von wesentli-
chen falschen Angaben ist.  

Eine Prüfung beinhaltet die Durchführung von Prüfungshandlungen zur Erlangung von Prüfungsnach-
weisen für die in der Jahresrechnung enthaltenen Wertansätze und sonstigen Angaben. Die Auswahl der 
Prüfungshandlungen liegt im pflichtgemässen Ermessen des Prüfers. Dies schliesst eine Beurteilung der 
Risiken wesentlicher falscher Angaben in der Jahresrechnung als Folge von Verstössen oder Irrtümern 
ein. Bei der Beurteilung dieser Risiken berücksichtigt der Prüfer das interne Kontrollsystem, soweit es für 
die Aufstellung der Jahresrechnung von Bedeutung ist, um die den Umständen entsprechenden Prüfungs-
handlungen festzulegen, nicht aber um ein Prüfungsurteil über die Wirksamkeit des internen Kontrollsys-
tems abzugeben. Die Prüfung umfasst zudem die Beurteilung der Angemessenheit der angewandten 
Rechnungslegungsmethoden, der Plausibilität der vorgenommenen Schätzungen sowie eine Würdigung 
der Gesamtdarstellung der Jahresrechnung. Wir sind der Auffassung, dass die von uns erlangten Prü-
fungsnachweise eine ausreichende und angemessene Grundlage für unser Prüfungsurteil bilden. 

Prüfungsurteil 
Nach unserer Beurteilung entspricht die Jahresrechnung für das am 31. Dezember 2016 abgeschlossene 
Geschäftsjahr dem schweizerischen Gesetz und den Statuten. 
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Report on other legal requirements 

We confirm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing according to the Auditor Oversight Act 
(AOA) and independence (article 728 CO) and that there are no circumstances incompatible with our in-
dependence. 

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that 
an internal control system exists which has been designed for the preparation of financial statements ac-
cording to the instructions of the Board of Directors. 

We recommend that the financial statements submitted to you be approved. 

In addition, we emphasize that half of the share capital and legal reserves are no longer covered (art. 725 
para. 1 SCO). 

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG 

Simon Bandi Andreas Scheibli 

Audit expert 
Auditor in charge 

Audit expert 

Zürich, 26 February 2019 
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Zug – Switzerland

InnoMedica Switzerland AG 

Gesellschaftsstrasse 16  

CH-3012 Bern

Contact 

+41 (0)44 383 88 22 

info@innomedica.com

www.innomedica.com

InnoMedica
Holding AG

The English version of InnoMedica’s Offering Prospectus  2021 
was translated from the original German version which shall 
be binding in case of disparities.




